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Moreland City Council Annual Report 
2018-19 

 
 

Welcome 
 

 

Moreland City Council is committed to accountability and transparent reporting to the community.  

Our Annual Report 2018-19 is the primary way we communicate to our community about our 

operations and performance for the financial year.  

The annual report provides an update on the highlights and achievements originating from this plan 

and addresses the challenges experienced throughout the year.  

Our Council Plan 2017-21 is the guiding document for this annual report. The council plan describes our 

strategic objectives in three focus areas and the key priorities implemented to achieve them.  

If you would like to view the council plan, you can visit moreland.vic.gov.au, phone (03) 9240 1111, or 

visit one of our Citizens Service Centres or libraries.  

We also welcome your feedback on this annual report. You can contact us on (03) 9240 1111 or write 

to us at Locked Bag 10, Moreland, Victoria 3058.  

Our Customer Service Centres are open from 8.30 am to 5 pm, Monday to Friday.  

• Moreland Civic Centre 90 Bell Street, Coburg 

• Brunswick Customer Service Centre 233 Sydney Road, Brunswick  

• Glenroy Customer Service Centre 796N Pascoe Vale Road, Glenroy 
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Mayor’s message 
 

It has been a great year for Moreland City Council and a rewarding one for me as 

Mayor of our fine city.  

Thanks to the hard work of our Council officers and careful guidance from our 11 

Councillors, we made many great achievements in 2018-19, but I would 

particularly like to highlight Council’s work in the areas of sustainability, 

community cohesion and how we engage with the community, areas that we are 

very passionate about.  

In September last year, Council acknowledged the climate emergency. For many 

years, Council has been adapting our operations to fight climate change and help our community to do the 

same. We are also continuing our journey to become a zero-carbon community by 2040. Acknowledging the 

climate emergency shows the rest of Melbourne that we are taking the issue of climate change very 

seriously and we want to help others to do the same.  

We have set an ambitious target of sending zero waste to landfill across the municipality by 2030. If we 

want to fight climate change, we need to make huge changes to the way we view waste – and fast. Council 

has implemented new ways for the community to become more sustainable. We trialled a kerbside 

collection of food and garden organics through the green waste bin in a small section of Moreland early in 

2019. This was a great success, so we rolled out the collection service to the rest of Moreland from 1 July 

2019. We endorsed our Plastic Wise Policy in April in a move towards eliminating single-use plastics from 

within Council’s operations as well as at Council-run events. This is to address our concerns about the long-

term environmental damage that plastic is having on open spaces, waterways and the marine environment.  

The Moreland Integrated Transport Strategy is an ambitious plan that will set Moreland up to help shift our 

reliance on cars. It aims to create a Moreland that is liveable, sustainable, safe, healthy, accessible, 

prosperous and equitable for all. Once this strategy is fully implemented, we will see fewer cars and less 

gridlock in our activity centres, more sustainable forms of transport like walking and cycling increase and 

public transport favoured over car travel. As Mayor, I opted to use an electric bicycle instead of a mayoral 

car, and I look forward to seeing more people in Moreland making similar choices, where they can.  

We are also making growing food easier than ever with the launch of our Community Food Growing 

Assessment Guidelines. Moreland has more than a dozen community gardens, providing people without 

backyards the opportunity to grow their own food and connect with our food supply. But one of my 

favourite benefits of community gardens is how they nurture community cohesion. At Fawkner Food Bowls, 

people are sharing their food and their recipes and older residents are teaching newcomers how to preserve 

the legacy of Moreland’s fruit trees through grafting. Coburg’s Pentridge Community Garden is providing a 

place for people living in apartments to grow food together and start friendships with their neighbours. This 

is a brilliant way to build community and a key part of how we will protect our environment into the future.  

Community cohesion is a vital part of building community and as part of that, Council has been focusing on 

making sure people of all backgrounds feel at home within the many and varied groups and clubs that call 

Moreland home. Moreland is now the first council in Victoria to have all sporting clubs who receive an 

annual allocation to our facilities have female teams. This is a result of targeted policies but also face-to-face 

support from our officers to help clubs recruit women and girls for their teams and committees. This focus 

has seen the participation in sports by women and girls increase from 8 per cent in 2008 to 23 per cent in 

2018. I am immensely proud of this statistic and hope other councils work quickly to follow our lead!  

Improving the way we inform and engage with the community has also been a big part of the past 12 

months. We have heard that the community wants better communication from Council and to be involved 

much more in our decision-making. In response, we established a community reference group who worked 

with us to develop our new Community Engagement and Public Participation Policy. Council has employed a 
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Community Engagement and Public Participation Coordinator and purchased a new online community 

consultation platform, which will include information about projects and opportunities for the community 

to give feedback and get involved. It is the beginning of our journey, but we have established a solid 

foundation and I am looking forward to continuing to improve the way Council works with the community.  

We have achieved a lot this year, but there is plenty more to do. I encourage you all to get involved with 

Council and your community, whether that be through our community reference groups, by speaking up for 

your community when there is a need or giving your feedback on new ideas through our website. We are 

one community, proudly diverse, and when we all work together, the sky is the limit.  

 

  



│ 2018-19 Annual Report, Moreland City Council 
 

 
7 

 

Chief Executive Officer’s report  
 

The 2018-19 financial year has been a real triumph and has seen the delivery 

of flagship projects such as the Oak Park Sports and Aquatic Centre and the 

fruition of our signature suite of plans for Moreland’s liveable and sustainable 

future.  

The City of Moreland’s population is expected to reach 200,000 people in the 

next few years, and by 2036 our city is projected to grow by an extra 43,000 

people and 18,000 households.  

Council spent much of the past 12 months enacting our vision to prepare our 

community for this population growth. This includes ground-breaking strategies for transport, open space 

and parks, housing and how to reach our zero carbon targets by 2040.  

The Moreland Integrated Transport Strategy is one of Council’s most ambitious and forward-thinking plans 

to date. Together with the Parking Implementation Plan, it aims to reduce traffic and congestion through 

achieving a shift towards walking, cycling and public transport use.  

Our A Park Close to Home plan is an exciting initiative to ensure that every resident in Moreland is within 

walking distance of a park. During 2018-19, we announced two new parks would be built in Brunswick, one 

in Tinning Street and one in West/Breese Street. We also bought another two parcels of land in Sydney Road 

and Frith Street in Brunswick that will become new parks. Creating these new green spaces in the heart of 

our most built-up areas is a once-in-a-generation opportunity and an outcome we are all very proud of at 

Moreland. With so many people wanting to make their homes in Moreland, medium and high-density 

development is inevitable, but Council is taking steps to encourage better and more sustainable buildings to 

last our community well into the future. The Moreland Design Excellence Scorecard has established a 

benchmark for design excellence, striving for the very best in building design and materials, environmentally 

sustainable design, building accessibility and benefits to the community.  

In September 2018, Council acknowledged that Moreland is in a state of climate emergency. We have a goal 

of becoming a zero-carbon community by 2040 and our commitment to sustainability continues to see us 

put our words into action: Council is part-owner of the Melbourne Renewable Energy Project, a windfarm in 

regional Victoria that produces more than enough renewable energy to supply Council’s needs. It is the first 

time that a group of Australian institutions has banded together to collectively purchase renewable energy, 

and this makes me incredibly proud. We also completed a trial of collecting food and garden organics 

through our green waste bins. This was a roaring success, so we are now in the process of rolling this out to 

the rest of the municipality. This has the potential to divert up to half of our waste from landfill, instead 

recycling our food scraps into compost to enrich soil on farms, in parks, school gardens and more.  

Alongside these bigger future plans, Council has also delivered outstanding projects during 2018-19.  

The $27.3 million Oak Park Sports and Aquatic Centre was opened with a splash in October 2018. The 

redeveloped pool includes a 50m fitness pool, water play splash pool and learner’s pool, a 24-hour gym, 

group fitness and two brand new waterslides. The pool is proving to be a drawcard for swimmers from right 

across Moreland and beyond, and happily we were also able to keep the beloved elephant statue! This 

project was entirely funded by Council while remaining within the State-Government-imposed rate cap, a 

feat which we are fiercely proud of at Moreland.  

Another momentous project that Council is making significant investment in is the Wheatsheaf Community 

Hub. This $26.4 million centre will co-locate the Glenroy Library, kindergarten, maternal child health and 

childcare services with a community health provider and neighbourhood learning opportunities. It will also 

include a community garden and an upgrade to the adjoining Bridget Shortell Reserve. We moved into the 

detailed design phase in 2018-19 and will tender the construction contract by the end of 2019. It is a 
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testament to Council’s continued savvy financial management that not only have we maintained service 

levels under the rate cap, but we have established a funding pipeline to deliver these much-needed major 

projects now and into the future.  

At the same time that Council has been working on such ground-breaking and forward-thinking plans, 

throughout the year we have continued to deliver high quality and reliable services. In the 2018-19 period, 

our dedicated staff immunised 4181 children aged under five years, collected 44,531 tonnes of waste from 

residential bins, constructed 18,236 square metres of concrete footpaths and loaned out 1,183,447 physical 

and electronic materials including books, audio books and e-music. The enormity of the work that our staff 

carry out every day is mind-boggling.  

Moreland has a proud past and a promising future. It is in incredibly good hands with a highly talented 

executive and leadership team and is well-positioned to deliver continued success in the years to come.  
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Description of our municipality 
Location 
The City of Moreland is located between 4km and 14km north of central Melbourne and covers the inner 

and mid-northern suburbs of Brunswick, Brunswick East, Brunswick West, Pascoe Vale, Pascoe Vale South, 

Coburg, Coburg North, Hadfield, Fawkner, Glenroy, Oak Park and Gowanbrae. Small sections of Fitzroy 

North and Tullamarine are also part of Moreland. 
 
 

Population 
Our population remained steady at around 136,000 between 1996 and 2001. Since 2001, it has increased 

by approximately 46,000 or 34 per cent. In June 2018, our estimated resident population was 181,725.1
 

 

Between 2011 and 2036 it is predicted we will see unprecedented population growth. It is anticipated 

the municipality will grow by 48 per cent – from a population of 154,245 in 2011 to 228,425 in 2036. 

The majority of this growth will occur by 2026, and the greatest proportion of growth will occur in 

Brunswick and Brunswick East.2
 

 

Births 
We have seen a dramatic increase in births, with more than 2000 babies born in Moreland each year 

since 2005. In this financial year, 2727 babies were born in Moreland. 3 
 

Cultural diversity 
Our city is culturally and linguistically diverse, with residents speaking more than 140 different 

languages at home. 
 

In 2016, 34 per cent of residents were born overseas. Of those residents, 87 per cent were born in non-

English-speaking countries. 
 

Apart from Australia, the main countries of birth of residents represent the traditional migrant groups from 
Europe, including Italy, Greece and the United Kingdom, along with India, Pakistan, New Zealand and China.4 
 

New arrivals are changing our cultural diversity and are now more likely to be born in Pakistan, India, Syria, 

China, Nepal, the Philippines and Iraq. 5 

 

Age profile  
Our median age is lower than the Greater Melbourne Area with a median age of 34 years, compared with 36 
years for Melbourne. 
 

Historically, Moreland has had a higher proportion of elderly residents than the Greater Melbourne Area. 

However, in 2016 the proportion of people aged over 65 years has fallen to 13.8 per cent, slightly lower 

than Greater Melbourne at 14.1 per cent. In contrast, Moreland has higher proportions of people aged 20 

to 34 years (29.7 per cent compared with 23.7 per cent for Greater Melbourne). 
 

There are smaller proportions of 5 to 14-year-olds and 55 to 64-year-olds relative to the Greater Melbourne 

Area. The number and proportion aged 35 to 54 years has increased substantially over the past decade and 

is now like the Greater Melbourne Area.6
 

 

Life expectancy 
The life expectancy of our residents is similar to the Victorian average and is increasing. Women live longer 

than men by approximately five years. The life expectancy of women born in Moreland between 2008 and 

2011 is 84.4 years, compared to 79.1 years for men.7
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Education and occupation 
The proportion of residents who have non-school qualifications has increased, with 47 per cent more 

residents in 2011 having completed a non-school qualification than in 2001. 
 

The proportion of managers and professionals has increased from 19 per cent in 1996 to 29 per cent in 

2011, while the proportion of technicians and trades workers, labourers and sales workers has decreased.8
 

 

Local business and employment 
In 2016, health care and social assistance businesses employed the largest number of people in Moreland, 

with retail trade falling into second place, and education and training coming in third.9
 

 

Housing and families 
In 2016, there were 67,167 private dwellings (including unoccupied dwellings), up from 63,302 in 2011. 
 

The proportion of families with children decreased to 58.3 per cent of all family types in 2016, which is 5 per 

cent less than the Greater Melbourne Area. 
 

The proportion of households comprising of couples without children has remained stable over the past 

three census periods, while the proportion of lone-person households has increased. Moreland had 27 per 

cent lone-person households in 2016, which is 4 per cent more than the Greater Melbourne Area. Moreland 

has a higher proportion of group households than Greater Melbourne (9 per cent compared with 5 per 

cent).10
 

 
Housing stock 
In Moreland, 56 per cent of occupied private dwellings are separate houses, which is significantly below the 
Greater Melbourne Area average of 68 per cent. This is due to the increase in flats, units, apartments and 
semi-detached dwellings. We have a significantly higher proportion of these dwellings (43 per cent) 
compared with the Greater Melbourne Area (31 per cent).11

 

 

Residential property prices have risen at a relatively fast rate over most of the past decade, especially 

between 2007 and 2010, and then again in 2014 and 2015. 

Following the rapid rise in house and unit prices, the median price for both houses and units fell in 2011 and 

2012. However, since 2012 house and unit prices have been steadily increasing. Moreland’s highest recorded 

median house price in 2017 was $893,000, while the median price for a unit increased to $515,000 in 2017.12 

The property price data for 2018 was not available at the time of writing this report.  

 
1 Australian Bureau of Statistics, Regional Population Growth, Australia (3218.0) 
2 Population projections for Moreland, ID Consulting 2017, http://forecast.id.com.au/moreland 
3 Moreland Maternal and Child Health Database, 2019 
4 2016 Census of Population and Housing, Australian Bureau of Statistics 
5 Department of Immigration and Border Protection Settlement Reporting 
6 2016 Census of Population and Housing, Australian Bureau of Statistics 
7 Victorian Population Health survey, 2015 
8 2011 Census of Population and Housing, Australian Bureau of Statistics 
9 2016 Census of Population and Housing, Australian Bureau of Statistics 
10 2016 Census of Population and Housing, Australian Bureau of Statistics 
11 2016 Census of Population and Housing, Australian Bureau of Statistics 
12 A Guide to Property Values, Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning 
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Highlights of the year 
A summary of our achievements has been divided into the three broad strategic objectives of the 

Council Plan 2017-21. 

Strategic Objective: Connected Community  

Key Priorities: 

1. (KP 1) Achieve higher levels of social cohesion for our multicultural, established and newly arrived 

community, by fostering opportunities for shared learning and celebration. 
2. (KP 2) Set a clear vision and strategy for aquatics, leisure and sporting facilities to meet ongoing 

community needs. 
3. (KP 3) Determine the best way for Moreland to continue supporting our community throughout, 

and after Aged Care and NDIS reforms. 
4. (KP 4) Enhance family and children’s services to meet the needs of Moreland’s growing population 

and increasing birth rate. 
5. (KP 5) Better equip our young people for employment and provide opportunities to actively 

participate in civic life. 
6. (KP 6) Help people feel safer in our neighbourhoods. 

Achievements:  

• Council continues to foster social cohesion and pride through the Moreland Awards. The awards 

thank and recognise the quiet achievers in Moreland, who give back to their community and inspire 

their peers. (KP 1) 

• The Fawkner Food Bowls community garden is developed and established as a family-friendly place 

to meet people, grow food, share gardening tips and relax. (KP 1) 

• In March, Council adopts the Library Services Strategy 2019-23, which outlines the priorities for 

Moreland's library services for the next five years. (KP 1)  

• Moreland is the first council in Victoria to require all clubs who receive an annual allocation to our 

sports grounds and facilities to have female teams. (KP 2) 

• Female-friendly change rooms at Hallam Reserve in Pascoe Vale and Dunstan Reserve in Brunswick 

West are completed to better enable women and girls to participate in sport. (KP 2) 

• Moreland’s largest ever capital works project, the $27.3 million Oak Park Pool, is opened, complete 

with two new waterslides and with a focus on accessibility to increase participation of people with 

disabilities. (KP 2) 

• Council decides to continue providing Commonwealth Home Support Program services while it 

continues to receive block funding, and Regional Assessment Services until the future operating and 

funding model is determined. (KP 3) 

• An Older Persons Reference Group is developed for consultation in relation to the Living and Ageing 

Well in Moreland Framework and Action Plan. (KP 3) 

• Playground upgrades are completed at Jacobs Reserve and Denzil Don Reserve in Brunswick West, 

Hosken Reserve in Coburg North, Allard Park in Brunswick East and Austin Crescent/Gavin Park in 

Pascoe Vale. (KP 4) 

• Council develops and consults with more than 2300 young people, local service organisations and 

educators on a new youth strategy, Full Potential - A Strategy for Moreland's Young People. (KP 5) 

• Officers produce detailed design lighting plans for five sections of the Upfield shared path: Fawkner 

Railway Station to Box Forest Road; Plaisted Street to Shorts Road; Spry Street to Bakers Road; 

Rogers Street to O’Hea Street; and Renown Street to Batman Railway Station. (KP 6) 

  

https://www.moreland.vic.gov.au/globalassets/areas/youth/documents/full-potential---a-strategy-for-moreland-s-young-people---june-2019.pdf
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Strategic Objective: Progressive City 

Key Priorities: 

1. (KP1) Enhance liveability, affordability and sustainability by guiding growth, and excellence in urban 

design and development.  
2. (KP 2) Facilitate a demonstrable shift to more sustainable modes of transport that also targets a 

long-term reduction in car use.  
3. (KP 3) Support the local economy and trading environments to enhance economic activity and 

promote local jobs.  
4. (KP 4) Increase tree canopy cover, enhance existing open space and create at least two new parks, in 

areas with the lowest access to open space.  
5. (KP 5) Move to a proactive approach to managing construction impacts resulting from population 

growth in our city.  
6. (KP 6) Develop a clear and funded approach to achieve zero carbon emissions by 2040 
7. (KP 7) Invest in the revitalisation of shopping and trading precincts.  
8. (KP 8) Strengthen and invest in the significant creative sector in Moreland and enhance its standing 

as a destination for the arts.  
9. (KP 9) Enhance the environmental outcomes of Council waste services and increase community 

awareness/participation in environmental initiatives to reduce waste to landfill. 

Achievements:  

• The Virtual Moreland project is completed, allowing the public to view the City of Moreland as a 3D 

map and better understand development opportunities and effects of planning proposals. This tool 

aims to improve Council's decision-making process and put Moreland at the forefront of using 

virtual reality for planning and consultation. (KP 1) 

• A trail-blazing Design Excellence Scorecard is adopted in February for a 12-month trial. The tool 

seeks to establish a benchmark for design excellence, over and above the standard planning scheme 

requirements. (KP 1) 

• Council continues its commitment to address affordable housing by appointing the first board of the 

Moreland Affordable Housing Ltd. This board will identify a suitable site on Council-owned land for 

an affordable housing development for Council approval. (KP 1) 

• The Moreland Integrated Transport Strategy (MITS) is endorsed in March. This ground-breaking 

policy aims to facilitate a shift to more sustainable modes of transport and also targets a long-term 

reduction in car use. (KP 2) 

• The Draft Parking Management Policy is endorsed in March, along with the Moreland Integrated 

Transport Strategy. (KP 2) 

• Council continues to advocate to the State Government for the best possible outcomes for the 

community for the level crossing removals. Council’s advocacy for two extra level crossings at 

Munro Street and Reynard Street result in the Premier formally announcing their inclusion in June. 

(KP 2) 

• A working group is established for the Brunswick Design District and Council continues to be 

successful in supporting start-ups and entrepreneurs through the LaunchVic-funded Moreland 

Converger program. (KP 3) 

• Council’s first long-term parklet is installed in March, hosted by the Grandview Hotel in Brunswick 

West. Parklets are little parks built in car spaces for the community to meet and gather. A 

temporary parklet is moved from Florence Street in Brunswick to Brunswick North Primary School in 

Brunswick West. (KP 3) 

• Two new parks are announced in Brunswick as Council buys land as part of the A Park Close to 

Home initiative. This plan aims to see everyone living in the City of Moreland within 500 metres 
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walking distance of a park or open space, and within 300 metres for those living in the city’s busiest, 

high-density areas. (KP 4) 

• Council adopts the Cooling the Upfield Corridor Action Plan in October. The Upfield Corridor has 

been identified as having some of the hottest surface temperatures within Moreland and this action 

plan aims to minimise the surface temperatures of this area. (KP 4) 

• New Year’s Day sees Council begin purchasing electricity equivalent to that needed for all of its 

Council operations from the Crowland Wind Farm in north-west Victoria, as part of the Melbourne 

Renewable Energy Project. Council is one of many partners in the project that built the 80-megawatt 

wind farm near Ararat. (KP 6) 

• More than 70 kilowatts (kW) of solar capacity is installed on rented buildings across Moreland. 

Council’s Solar on Leased Facilities program includes West Coburg Bowling Club (20kW), Fawkner 

Bowling Club (18kW), Lake Park Kindergarten (5.5kW), Dawson Street Child Care Centre (14.5kW) 

and the Denzil Don Kindergarten (9kW). A total of 794kW of rooftop solar capacity is now installed 

across Council facilities. (KP 6) 

• Work on Streetscape Renewal Projects continues, with Holmes – Nicholson Shopping Strip 

completed in October, construction started on the Bonwick Street Shopping Strip Upgrade in June 

and concept designs finalised for Gaffney Village Shopping Strip. (KP 7) 

• Fawkner Festa brings the community together for a day of music, entertainment, dancing and food. 

(KP 8)  

• The Coburg Night Market takes over Bridges Reserve in Coburg with tantalising street food, artisan 

makers and local music and performances to create a vibrant market atmosphere in the lead-up to 

Christmas. (KP 8) 

• The Brunswick Music Festival is kicked off with the annual Sydney Road Street Party, offering a wide-

ranging program across streets, spaces and venues in Brunswick. (KP 8) 

• The 1000-household Food Organics, Garden Organic (FOGO) trial is a huge success and Council 

resolves to offer the service across the whole municipality from July 2019. The upgraded service 

sees residents able to put food and garden organics into their green waste bin, diverting it from 

landfill and allowing the matter to be turned into compost by Veolia. (KP 9) 

• Council adopted the Waste and Litter Strategy in December and the Plastic Wise Policy in April. The 

Plastic Wise Policy moves towards eliminating the use of single-use plastic within Council’s own 

operations as well as at Council-run events. 
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Strategic Objective: Responsible Council 

Key Priorities: 

• (KP 1) Improve resident satisfaction to 90 per cent with Council’s performance in customer service.  

• (KP 2) Reach the top 25 per cent of all councils for improved community satisfaction with Council’s 

engagement practices.  

• (KP 3) Maintain and match our infrastructure to community needs and population growth.  

• (KP 4) Provide transparent and effective governance of Council’s operations.   

• (KP 5) Operate without seeking an exemption from the rate cap through efficient use of Council’s 

skills and financial resources.  

• (KP 6) Enable Council’s workforce to be mobile and accessible, supported by smart and efficient 

technologies. 

Achievements:  

• Council’s new Complaints Resolution Policy is finalised and delivers on requirements outlined in the 

Victorian Ombudsman’s Councils and Complaints: A Good Practice Guide. (KP 1) 

• The Tree Finder Tool is launched on Council’s website, allowing the community to enter their needs 

(for example, size of yard) and find out what trees are recommended for their space. (KP 1)  

• The new Community Engagement Policy and Framework is adopted in December, which will guide 

and improve how Council engages with the community (KP 2) 

• Moreland’s 2019-20 Budget is announced, with an investment of $46 million in capital works to 

maintain and improve the amenity of the city, while maintaining a focus on core services for the 

Moreland community. (KP 3) 

• Council progresses the design of the Wheatsheaf Community Hub, which will create an integrated 

hub in Glenroy with a focus on education, lifelong learning and health, combined with a district-level 

open space. The planning permit is submitted in April. (KP 3) 

• Council endorses a concept plan for future development of the Saxon Street hub in Brunswick. The 

short-term activation ‘Siteworks’ continues to be well-attended by a diverse range of community 

members. (KP 3) 

• The Fleming Park ‘Refresh’ Master Plan is adopted for implementation over 12 years. (KP 3) 

• Council continues to refine its submission on the proposed Local Government Bill after gaining an 

overview of the reform themes, key changes and key considerations at a ministerial briefing in June. 

(KP 4) 

• Council identifies four projects for the Northern Region Collaborative Procurement Program and 

saves more than 10 per cent as a result. This collaboration with other northern region councils also 

allows for the employment of disadvantaged people from our municipality. (KP 5) 

• Mobile devices are now rolled out to 100 per cent of staff through Council’s IT strategy to help see a 

more efficient use of time and money while addressing the need for business intelligence and 

sustainable integration. (KP 6) 

• The Northern Melbourne Smart Cities Network is initiated in February with the new network to be 

implemented in 2019-20. This network will allow Council to collect a range of new data from across 

the municipality to improve processes and efficiencies, such as public bins that report when they are 

full. (KP 6) 
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Challenges and future outlook 

 

Challenges 

Growing population 

In the next few years, Moreland’s population is expected to hit 200,000 and by 2036, the City of Moreland is 

projected to grow by an extra 43,000 people and 18,000 households. The majority of the growth will occur 

by 2026 and the greatest proportion of growth will occur in Brunswick and Brunswick East. 

Council continues to plan for the increased need for more services and greater pressure on infrastructure 

resulting from population growth through our strategies on transport, open space and parks, housing 

availability and affordability and reaching our zero carbon targets by 2040.  

Recycling 

Like all Australian councils, Moreland is affected by China’s decision to impose stricter contamination 

thresholds on the recyclables it receives for processing. Recycling now costs Council money per tonne to be 

processed whereas previously Council received money for each tonne that was processed. However, 

through Council’s partnership with Visy Recycling, no recycling material is going into landfill. Council’s new 

Waste Strategy also aims to dramatically reduce household waste in the coming decade through initiatives 

like the food and garden organics collection service and our plastic-wise policy.  

Rate cap 

The State Government-imposed rate cap continues to create financial pressure on Council with any rate 

increase capped at 2.5 per cent for the next 12 months. Despite this constraint, we are determined to work 

within this cap while maintaining and enhancing Council services. 

Aged Care 

Council is committed to supporting older residents to live and age well and will continue to deliver services 

under the Commonwealth Home Support Program while we receive block funding. Council is anticipating a 

change in mid-2020 to the way that assessment for aged care is conducted. It will be important for Council 

to support residents through this change and to continue to support them to navigate the My Aged Care 

system.  

Reducing the harm of gambling 

The harmful effects of gambling are a major challenge for Council and the community as a whole. We are at 
the coalface, dealing with the financial and emotional harm that problem gambling creates. We will 
continue to push for meaningful gambling reform through our partnership with the Alliance for Gambling 
Reform.  

Maintaining and increasing open space 

With a growing population and an increase in dwelling numbers, it is vital that Council maintains and creates 

open space. This is particularly challenging as we are an inner-metropolitan council with so much of our land 

area already developed. Council has taken on this significant challenge by creating the A Park Close to Home 

plan to proactively acquire land to create new parks in areas that need them most. In the past year, Council 

has successfully purchased land to create four new parks in Brunswick. Council has also secured parcels of 

land along the Merri Creek in Fawkner and at Outlook Drive in Glenroy to help maintain the open space we 

already have.  

Planning 
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There is a disconnect between what Council is seeking in terms of good planning policy and what the State 

Government is implementing across Victoria. This has created uncertainty for Moreland. Council continues 

to work for the best possible planning outcomes for its community and advocating for genuine reform.  
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Financial overview 
The ‘Financial Report’ section in this report includes the comprehensive financial statements prepared in 
accordance with relevant accounting standards and legislative requirements. These statements are detailed 
and, as such, some stakeholders and community members may find them difficult to interpret. This 
overview aims to simplify the pertinent information regarding our financial performance for the year. 
 

Strategic Resource Plan 
 

Council is guided by the principles of the Strategic Resource Plan for the period 2019 to 2024. This plan is 
not intended to be static and is reviewed annually as part of our planning process and updated to reflect 
changing circumstances. 
 

The aim of the Strategic Resource Plan is to ensure that we can undertake our strategic and governance 
role and to maintain and repair our infrastructure assets at the level expected by the community, while 
continuing to deliver essential services. 
 

Operating income – where did the money come from? 
 

Total income for the year was $217.5 million. There was an overall decrease in income of $22.5 million (or 
9.0 per cent) compared to that of 2017-18, largely due to $25.4 million in gifted assets in the 2017-18 
financial year. Council’s major source of income, rates and charges, generated $151.5 million (or 69.7 per 
cent of total income). 
 
Other major sources of income other than rates and charges, includes government grants of $22.9 million 
(or 10.5 per cent of total income) and user fees and statutory fees and fines of $20.0 million (or 9.2 per 
cent of total income). 
 

Operating expenses – how was the money spent? 
 

Total operating expenses for the year were $193.6 million. The majority of total expense consists of 
employee costs being $84.2 million (43.0 percent of total expenses) and material and services of $68.1 
million (35.0 per cent of total expenses). 
 

We are reporting an accounting surplus of $23.9 million for the financial year. It is, however, important to 
note that this accounting surplus includes items that are either one-off or committed for capital 
expenditure in future years. 
 
Operating expenditure profile for 2018-19 
 

Operating Category Percentage 

Capital Works 31.1% 

Administration 12.3% 

Asset Depreciation 8.5% 

Aged, Disability & Socials Services 5.3% 

Local Laws & Regulations 5.2% 

Parks & Street Trees 5.0% 

Waste Collection & Recycling 4.4% 

Planning & Economic Development 2.9% 

Arts, Culture & Libraries 2.9% 

Systems & Communications 3.0% 

Transport 2.6% 

Roads & Footpaths 3.3% 
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Operating Category Percentage 

Customer Service 1.8% 

Health & Immunisation 1.7% 

Asset Maintenance 2.2% 

Street Cleansing 1.4% 

Youth and Children's Services 1.3% 

Governance 1.9% 

Recreation & Leisure 2.3% 

Asset Management 0.5% 

Property Services 0.4% 

Total 100.0% 

 
 

Capital expenses 

Total completed capital expenditure for the year was $94.0 million, with another $8.2 million in works in 

progress. We continue to address our capital works program across a wide range of projects, with the total 

completed capital work spend being $68.5 million above the depreciation for the year. 

Top 20 major capital works by category delivered in 2018-19 include: 

Capital works category Amount 

All land assets $40,131,702  

Roads & carparks $8,972,267  

Parks & reserves $6,852,531  

Aquatic & leisure centres $6,429,749  

Footpaths & bikepaths $3,511,162  

Pavilion & sports clubs $3,004,556  

Coburg 2020 $2,214,015  

Civic buildings $1,826,197  

Transport management $1,729,896  

Council fleet $1,484,288  

Library collection $1,001,011  

Climate change $990,100  

Drainage $860,874  

Community use facilities $858,706  

Buildings-general $795,079  

Information technology $664,957  

Water quality $531,427  

Public open space $439,250  

Public toilets $269,832  



│ 2018-19 Annual Report, Moreland City Council 
 

 
19 

 

Capital works category Amount 

Furniture & fittings $201,100  

 

Service delivery 
Council is responsible for more than 150 services, from waste management to delivering meals, open space 

to business development, and traffic regulation to supporting people in their homes. Council oversees the 

planning permit process, animal registration, street cleaning, family and children’s services, planning for 

appropriate development and ensuring accountability for our budget.  
 

These services and infrastructure support the wellbeing and prosperity of our community. For more 

information on our achievements to improve infrastructure and increase delivery of these services, and on 

the challenges we faced, refer to the ‘Our Performance’ section in this report.  

 

 

Awards and citations 

• 2019 Aquatic and Recreation Victoria Awards 

Winner – Marketing and Communications Award – Oak Park Aquatic and Leisure Centre. 

 

• Victoria’s Multicultural Awards for Excellence 
Winner – Government and Civic Leadership Award. 
 

• Parks and Leisure Awards for Excellence   
Winner – Parks and Leisure Awards for Excellence – Strategic Planning category for the “Allocation 
and Use of Sporting Facilities Policy”.  
 

• 2018 National Place Leaders Awards 
Commendation – Siteworks, Brunswick. 
 

• 2018 Australian Urban Design Awards 
Shortlisted – Australian Urban Design Award – Leadership, Advocacy, and Research – City and 
Regional Scale Category for the “Virtual Moreland” project. 
 

• 2018 Premier’s Sustainability Awards 
Winner – Premier’s Sustainability Award – Government Category for the Melbourne Renewable 
Energy Project. 
 

• 2018 Premier’s Sustainability Awards 
Finalist – Premier’s Sustainability Award – Social Justice Category for the Cooling Communities 
project. 

 

Community satisfaction  

We are committed to building and maintaining a vibrant and liveable city. 
 

Every year we participate in a survey of local government services which aims to provide data so individual 

councils can track the views of their residents over time. Twenty-two Council services were surveyed in 

2019. 
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Council’s satisfaction score for our overall performance is holding steady. Since the start of this council 

term, the results have been 84 per cent (2017) and 90 per cent (2018) with our most recent results at 82 

per cent (2019). The survey results can be compared as far back as 2013 when Council’s score was 86 per 

cent.  

 

Council continued to rate highly in 2019 for recreational facilities, libraries, and providing arts and cultural 

opportunities with each receiving scores of above 90 per cent. Council also continued to perform well in 

the areas of family support services, elderly support services and waste services with each receiving scores 

of more than 85 per cent. 
 

Our lowest satisfaction scores were for parking facilities (60 per cent), planning for population growth in 

the area (59 per cent) and general town planning policy (63 per cent). These continue to be areas of 

focus for Council.  
 

Results from Council’s biannual Community Indicators Survey 2018 show continuing high levels of 

perceived community wellbeing, with the vast majority (96 per cent) of our residents considering their 

local area a good place to live. 
 

As in previous years, a very high 94 per cent agreed that Moreland is a good place to raise a family. Eighty-

six per cent agreed that they can access a variety of recreation facilities and leisure activities, while 94 per 

cent of respondents agreed with the statement, “You can get to know your neighbours”. 
 

Ninety-four per cent of residents agreed with the statement, “Cultural diversity enriches local community 

life”, and 95 per cent believed that people from different ethnic backgrounds are made welcome in their 

neighbourhoods. 

 

However, fewer than half of our residents agreed that Moreland is an affordable place to live, 

dropping from 45 per cent in 2016 to 36 per cent in 2018. 

 
 
The below provides the quantities of a selection of key services that we provide to our residents. 

• Planning permit applications received: 1,235 (*as reported in the state-wide 
planning permit activity report.) 

• Number of meals delivered: 82,180 

• Kilometres of streets swept: 41,706 

• Library loans: 1,183,447 

• Kids at Storytime, Rhyme Time and Toddler Time: 17,082 

• Trees planted: 5,058 

• Attendance at Active Moreland water safety and learn-to-swim programs: 
163,581 

• Number of visits to outdoor aquatic facilities (incl. Oak Park): 218,522 

• Number of visits to outdoor aquatic facilities (incl. Oak Park) – just swim: 
159,549 

• Number of visits to year-round aquatic and leisure facilities: 904,761 

• Dogs and cats registered: 14,267 

• Total attendance at Active Moreland facilities: 1,143,618 

• Active Moreland members: 8,455 

• Tonnes of garbage collected: 29,571  

• Tonnes of comingled recycling collected: 14,930 

• Tonnes of green waste collected: 7,771 

• Tonnes of hard waste collected: 3,402  

• Total number of immunisations  
o under 5s: 4,181 
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o high school students: 3,071 

o adults: 913 

• Visitors to our libraries: 670,500 
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Our council 
On 22 October 2016, our community elected 11 Councillors to represent them. These Councillors are elected 

from three wards across our municipality: North-West Ward, North-East Ward and South Ward. 

 

Our Councillors for the 2018-19 year were: 

 

South Ward 
 

Councillor Jess Dorney (sworn in December 2017) 

Councillor Mark Riley  

Councillor Lambros Tapinos 

North-East Ward 
 

Councillor Natalie Abboud  

Councillor Sue Bolton 

Councillor Annalivia Carli Hannan  

Councillor Ali Irfanli  

North-West Ward 

Councillor Helen Davidson 
 

Councillor John Kavanagh 

Councillor Dale Martin 

Councillor Oscar Yildiz JP 

Councillors 
 

Our Councillors are elected by Moreland residents and ratepayers every four years to collectively 

make decisions in the interests of the whole municipality. The next election is in October 2020. 
 

Council elects the mayor and a deputy mayor each year. In October 2018, Council elected Cr Abboud 

as Mayor and Cr Riley as Deputy Mayor. They will hold these offices until October 2019. 

 

An essential part of the representative role that Councillors play is by participating in a range of 

committees established by Council, peak body/sector associations, and local and regional forums. 

They do this through their appointments and participation in a range of committees and groups 

established by Council (advisory committees) and as Council’s appointed representative on external 

groups and bodies. 

 

Some Councillors also take the lead in particular areas of interest as the “Councillor Responsible For” 

and in this role they make sure key information is available to Council when making decisions in 

these areas. 

 

In December, all Councillors were appointed to the CEO Selection Review Panel. This panel was 

dissolved in June and all Councillors were appointed to the newly established Employment Matters 

Advisory Committee. All Councillors were also invited to attend the Communications Task Group 

Meeting and Financial Review Briefing, both held monthly. 
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Specific Councillors and responsibilities in 2018-19: 
 
Mayor Natalie Abboud 

 
Elected to Council in 2016, elected Deputy Mayor in 2017 (to October 2018) and elected Mayor in 
October 2018. 

 
Advisory Committees:  
Coburg Advisory Group, Moreland Community Recognition Committee, Disability Working Group, 
Coburg Square Oversight Committee 
External Committees: 
Merri Creek Management Committee (substitute), and Victorian Local Governance Association. 
Councillor Responsible For: 
Economic Development, Urban Planning and Status of Women.  

M 0499 807 166  
E nabboud@moreland.org.au 
 
 
Deputy Mayor Mark Riley 
 

Elected to Council in 2016 and elected Deputy Mayor in 2018 (October). 

Advisory Committees: 
Brunswick Advisory Group, Audit and Risk Management Committee, Moreland Housing Advisory 
Committee, Moreland Community Recognition Committee, Moreland Arts Advisory Committee, 
Moreland Transport Advisory Committee, Human Rights and Inclusion Committee, Reconciliation 
Working Group.  
External Committees: 
Northern Alliance for Greenhouse Action Executive, Metropolitan Transport Forum. 
Councillor Responsible For: 
Accessible and Affordable Housing, Transport, Arts and Culture, Social Diversity, Multiculturalism and 
Reconciliation. 
 
M 0499 807 044 
E mriley@moreland.org.au 
 
Cr Sue Bolton 

 
Elected to Council in 2012 and 2016. 

Advisory Committees: 
Coburg Advisory Group, Moreland Housing Advisory Committee, Reconciliation Working Group, 
Disability Working Group. 
Councillor Responsible For: 
Accessible and Affordable Housing. 

M 0417 583 664 
E sbolton@moreland.org.au 

 
 

Cr Annalivia Carli Hannan  
 

Elected to Council in 2016. 

Advisory Committees: 
Coburg Advisory Group, Friends of Aileu Community Committee, Moreland Community Recognition 
Committee, Family and Children Services Advisory Committee. 
Councillor Responsible For: 
Aged Services, Children.  

mailto:nabboud@moreland.org.au
mailto:mriley@moreland.org.au
mailto:sbolton@moreland.org.au
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M 0499 807 095 
E acarlihannan@moreland.org.au 

 
Cr Helen Davidson 

 
Elected to Council in 2012, 2016 and elected Mayor in 2016. 

Advisory Committees: 
Glenroy Advisory Group. 
Councillor Responsible For: 
Status of Women. 
 
M 0403 709 948 
E hdavidson@moreland.org.au 
 
Cr Jess Dorney 

Elected to Council in 2017. 

Advisory Committees: 
Sustainable Moreland Advisory Group, Brunswick Advisory Group, Financial Review Briefing.  
External Committees: 
CERES Committee of Management, Merri Creek Management Committee, Metropolitan Local 
Governments Waste Forum.  
Councillor Responsible For: 
Sustainability, Climate Change and Water.  
 
M 0419 560 055 
E jdorney@moreland.org.au 
 
Cr Ali Irfanli 

 

Elected to Council in 2016. 

Advisory Committees: 
Audit and Risk Management Committee, Coburg Advisory Group, Coburg Square Oversight Committee. 
External Committees: 
Moreland Energy Foundation Ltd Board. 

M 0477 363 623 
E airfanli@moreland.org.au 

 
 

Cr John Kavanagh 
 

Elected to Council in 2004, 2008, 2012 and 2016 and elected Mayor in 2011 
and 2017 (to October 2018). 

Advisory Committees: 
Audit and Risk Management Committee, Glenroy Advisory Group, Family and Children Services 
Advisory Committee, Moreland Community Recognition Committee. 
Councillor Responsible For:  
Children, Recreation and Leisure.   

M 0427 550 935 
E jkavanagh@moreland.org.au 
 
Cr Dale Martin 

 

mailto:acarlihannan@moreland.org.au
mailto:hdavidson@moreland.org.au
mailto:jdorney@moreland.org.au
mailto:airfanli@moreland.org.au
mailto:jkavanagh@moreland.org.au
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Elected to Council in 2016. 

Advisory Committees: 
Glenroy Advisory Group, Coburg Square Oversight Committee, Moreland Community Recognition 
Committee, Moreland Transport Advisory Committee, Moreland Libraries Advisory Committee, Youth 
Facility and Services Steering Committee (Oxygen). 
Councillor Responsible For: 
Youth, Infrastructure. 
 
M 0499 807 075 
E dmartin@moreland.org.au 

 
 

Cr Lambros Tapinos 
 

Elected to Council in 2008, 2012 and 2016 and elected Mayor in 2008 and 2013. 

Advisory Committees: 
Brunswick Advisory Group, Coburg Square Oversight Committee. 
External Committees:  
Metropolitan Transport Forum, Municipal Association of Victoria (substitute). 
Councillor Responsible For: 
Transport, Recreation and Leisure. 
 
M 0433 419 075 
E ltapinos@moreland.org.au 
 
Cr Oscar Yildiz JP 
 

Elected to Council in 2008, 2012, and 2016 and elected Mayor in 2010, 2012 and 2014. 

Advisory Committees: 
Glenroy Advisory Group 
External Committees: 
Municipal Association of Victoria. 
Councillor Responsible For: 
Recreation and Leisure. 
 
M 0413 850 357 
E oyildiz@moreland.org.au 
 

 
 

 
 
 

  

mailto:dmartin@moreland.org.au
mailto:ltapinos@moreland.org.au
mailto:oyildiz@moreland.org.au
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Our people 

Organisational structure 

Chief Executive Officer, Nerina Di Lorenzo 

Dr Nerina Di Lorenzo commenced as our Chief Executive Officer at the end of January 2015. 

Nerina is a highly qualified local government executive, holding a Bachelor of Engineering, a Bachelor of 

Business Administration and a PhD on implementing change in local government organisations. Her prior 

roles include Director of Infrastructure at Wyndham City Council and Director of City Infrastructure at 

Moreland City Council and she held a range of senior management roles in engineering and business 

improvement. Prior to joining local government, Nerina was an offshore oil rig engineer. 

Nerina grew up and was educated in Moreland. She concluded her role as CEO of Moreland City Council in 

July 2019 to take up a position with Melbourne Water.  

Director City Infrastructure, Grant Thorne 

Grant Thorne commenced as Director City Infrastructure in February 2014. Grant has approximately 26 

years of local government experience across rural, growth and metropolitan councils and holds a Bachelor 

of Engineering, a Graduate Diploma of Management and is a graduate of the Australian Institute of 

Company Directors. He took up the role of Acting CEO of Moreland City Council in July 2019.  

Grant has gained experience across five local governments in his career, progressing from a graduate 

engineer to senior management roles. Grant is responsible for the portfolios of open space design and 

development, open space maintenance, street cleansing, roads, fleet, waste, engineering, asset 

management, building maintenance, building projects, local laws, parking and animal management. 

Director Community Development, Arden Joseph 

Arden Joseph commenced as Director Social Development in July 2015. In 2018, after an organisational 

restructure, this department was renamed Community Development. 

Arden holds a Bachelor of Business (Public Administration) and has completed the Australian Institute of 

Company Directors course. His prior executive-level experience is in local government and state 

government. His previous local government directorship was at Maribyrnong City Council as Director of 

Community Wellbeing and before this he held state government directorships at the departments of 

Planning and Community Development, Sport and Recreation, Education and Training (Victorian 

Qualifications Authority) and Employment. He has also served on several government boards and 

committees and on community sector boards in a voluntary capacity. 

Director Engagement and Partnerships, Joseph Tabacco 

Joseph Tabacco started as Director Engagement and Partnerships in December 2018. Joseph has more than 

20 years of diverse local government leadership experience across six municipal areas in metropolitan, 

peri-urban and rural settings. He has managed portfolios including economic development, 

communications, information technology, spatial systems, records management, strategic planning, urban 

design, strategic property development, tourism and events, transport planning, traffic and drainage 

engineering, environmental sustainability and municipal laws. 

Joseph has also held several executive and non-executive director roles on boards throughout Victoria. He 

holds a Diploma of Local Government (Governance and Administration) and a Bachelor of Business 

(Marketing). He is currently responsible for advocacy, communications and marketing, community 

engagement, customer experience, economic development, major partnership projects, place-making, and 

urban renewal through strategic property projects. 
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Director City Futures, Kirsten Coster 

Kirsten first joined Moreland City Council in August 2009 as the Director Economic Development. During 

her time as a director she has overseen a variety of areas including economic development, places, urban 

design, strategic and urban planning, environmental sustainable development, building, and environmental 

health services. Kirsten holds a Bachelor of Applied Science (Planning) and a Masters of Business 

(Marketing). 

Prior to joining Moreland, Kirsten spent more than 20 years in local government across three councils, 

before serving as a company director in the private sector for a national town planning and economic 

development consultancy. She has held a number of executive and non-executive director roles on boards 

in a voluntary capacity throughout her career. 

Kirsten has a strong background in urban development and renewal, land-use strategies and major 

projects, having worked in these fields in both the private and public sectors for nearly 30 years. Kirsten is 

responsible for influencing development in the city and responding to population growth and 

environmental change. 

Kirsten took a year of leave from her role in August 2018 and returned as Director City Futures in August 

2019.  

Acting Director City Futures, Phillip Priest 

Phil Priest was appointed to the role of Acting Director City Futures in December 2018. The City Futures 

directorate includes three branches: City Development, City Change and City Strategy and Design.  

The City Development Branch comprises the portfolios of urban planning, subdivision, environmental 

health and building services and includes decision-making and compliance functions tasked with improving 

the design quality, environmental performance and safety of development and land uses throughout 

Moreland.  

The City Change Branch comprises the portfolios of strategic transport, development advice and 

environmentally sustainable design services including Council’s lead on the response to climate emergency 

through waste, energy, water and transport initiatives.  

The City Strategy and Design Branch leads the organisation’s research and strategy responsibilities, 

strategic planning, affordable housing, community needs and urban design functions. 

Phil has a strong background in the leadership of urban planning, land-use strategies, major projects, 

heritage, urban design and other aspects of the built environment, having worked and led teams in these 

fields for 30 years.  

Director Business Transformation, Sue Vujcevic  

Sue Vujcevic commenced as Director Business Transformation in December 2018. Sue has more than 20 

years of local government leadership experience and holds a Bachelor of Applied Science in Planning and 

Graduate Diploma in Geospatial Information. Her portfolio includes human resources operations, 

organisational performance, corporate governance, information technology and records management.  

Sue has led multi-disciplinary teams in a range of management portfolios including strategic planning, 

environmental sustainability, heritage, urban design, geospatial information systems, research, and 

economic development. Sue was also Acting Director Planning and Economic Development from August to 

December in 2018.  

Executive Manager Finance, Liz Rowland 

Liz Rowland commenced in 2016 as Chief Financial Officer. From April 2018 she was the Acting Director 

Corporate Services where she was responsible for the portfolios of customer service, communications, 

finance, governance, property and information technology. Later in 2018 the organisation underwent a 

restructure and Liz’s role changed to Executive Manager Finance, where she is currently responsible for the 
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portfolios of finance operations, procurement, rates collection and valuations, and property. Liz holds a 

Bachelor of Commerce (Professional Accounting) and a Bachelor of Arts (Psychology) and is a Certified 

Practicing Accountant. Prior to joining Moreland City Council, Liz had worked for a state government 

agency and in the telecommunications industry. 

 

*Moreland City Council underwent an organisational restructure in the latter half of 2018 with the current 

structure coming into effect from 3 December 2018.  
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Chief Executive 
Officer 

 

Dr Nerina Di Lorenzo 

Director City 
Infrastructure 

 

Grant Thorne 
  Areas of responsibility:  

• Capital Works  
Planning and Delivery 

• Open Space and  
Street Cleansing 

• Roads, Fleet and  
Waste Services 

• Amenity   
and Compliance 

• Project Management 
Office 

 
 

 

 

 

Director Community 
Development 

 

Arden Joseph 
  Areas of responsibility:  

• Aged and Community 
Support 

• Cultural Development 

• Early Years and Youth 

• Community Wellbeing 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Director Business 
Transformation 
 
Sue Vujcevic 

  Areas of responsibility:  

• Human Resources 
Operations, including 
OHS 

• Organisation 
Performance 

• Information Technology 

• Corporate Governance, 
including Risk 
Management, Corporate 
Planning, Internal Audit, 
Facilities Management 

 

 

Director City Futures 
 

 

Phil Priest (Acting) 
Areas of responsibility:  

 

• City Development, 
including Urban Planning, 
Building Compliance and 
Environmental Health  

• City Strategy and Design, 
including Strategic 
Planning, Urban Design, 
Affordable Housing and 
Research 

• City Change, including 
strategic transport, waste 
behaviour change, 
development advice and 
environmentally 
sustainable design 

 

Director Engagement 
and Partnerships  

 

 Joseph Tabacco 
 Areas of responsibility:  

• Places and Major 
Partnerships Projects 

• Community Engagement 
incorporating customer 
service, complaints 
resolution, community 
engagement and 
participation, 
communication and 
marketing. 

• Economic Development 

• Advocacy 

 

Executive Manager 
Finance and Business 
Systems 
 
Liz Rowland 
Areas of responsibility: 

 

• Finance Management 

• Procurement 

• Property 

• Revenue Services 

Manager  
Capital Works Planning 
and Delivery 

 

Greg Gale 

Manager  
Aged and Community 
Support 

 

Ros Pruden 

Manager 
Human Resources 
Operations 

 

Vanessa O’Toole  

Group Manager 
City Development 

 

Narelle Jennings (Acting) 

Manager 
Places and Major 
Partnerships 

 

Marie Claire O’Hare 
(Acting) 

 

Manager  
Open Space and Street 
Cleansing 

 

Andrew Dodd 

Manager  
Cultural Development 

 

Genimaree 
Panozzo 

Manager 
Organisation Performance 

 

Trisha Love 

Manager  
City Strategy and 
 Design 

 

Kate Shearer  
 

Manager  
Community Engagement 

 

Jessamy Nicholas 
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Manager 
Roads, Fleet and 
Waste 

 

Karen Davies 

Manager  
Early Years and Youth 

 

Barry Hahn 

Manager 
Information Technology 

 

Chris Rathborne 

Manager  
City Change 

 
Olivia Wright 

Manager 
Economic Development 

 

Maria-Luisa Nardella  

 

Unit Manager  
Amenity and Compliance 
 
Sandra Troise 

Manager  
Community Wellbeing 

 

Bernadette Hetherington 

Manager 
Corporate Governance 

 
Jodie Watson 

  
 

  

 

Senior Project 
Management Coordinator 

 
Glen Hickey 
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Council staff 
 
A summary of the number of FTE (full-time equivalent) staff, categorised by employment classification and gender 

Structure Band 1 Band 2 Band 3 Band 4 Band 5 Band 6 Band 7 Band 8 SO/SEO/Other 
Total 
FTE 

Classification FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE   

Permanent Full Time - Female 0.0 0.0 8.0 41.0 42.1 37.0 20.8 19.8 25.0 193.8 

Permanent Full Time - Male 0.0 0.0 41.0 80.0 56.0 36.9 41.7 15.0 19.0 289.7 

Permanent Part Time - Female 18.9 52.1 16.8 21.5 18.1 14.2 6.7 20.2 2.3 170.7 

Permanent Part Time - Male 5.5 7.4 2.2 2.8 0.4 3.1 2.1 0.0 0.0 23.5 

Temporary Female 0.0 17.4 1.7 13.2 13.8 18.4 8.2 3.6 5.5 81.7 

Temporary Male 0.2 4.7 0.8 3.9 7.2 6.3 8.4 0.0 5.7 37.1 

Casual 0.3 0.4 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 1.3 

Total FTE 24.9 81.9 70.7 162.5 137.6 115.8 87.9 58.8 57.5 797.6 
 
 
A summary of the number of FTE staff by organisational structure, employment type and gender 

Structure 
Business 
Transformation CEO Office City Futures 

City 
Infrastructure 

Community 
Development 

Engagement and 
Partnerships 

Finance and 
Business Systems   

Classification FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE 
Total 
FTE 

Permanent Full Time - Female 28 2 30.98 36 67.8 19 10 193.8 

Permanent Full Time - Male 19.92 0.0 26 202 30.74 4 7 289.7 

Permanent Part Time - Female 13.59 0.54 6.32 11.59 122.69 14.46 1.48 170.7 

Permanent Part Time - Male 0.89 0.0 0.84 7.68 11.72 2.32 0.0 23.5 

Temporary Female 4.6 0.7 17.7 3.2 47.4 5.1 3.0 81.7 

Temporary Male 4.7 0.0 8.9 7.9 12.6 1.0 0.0 37.1 

Casual 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.4 0.8 0.0 0.0 1.3 

Total FTE 71.7 3.3 90.7 268.8 293.9 45.9 21.4 797.6 
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Inclusive employment   
Council is proud to support our employees by facilitating flexible working arrangements that assist them to fulfil their 

professional, personal and caring responsibilities. Support for parents returning to work following parental leave is high 

with part-time and job-share arrangements accommodated in different areas of the organisation. 

Work experience for secondary and tertiary students continued across a broad range of services including youth, 

finance, information technology, recreation, environmental health, planning and libraries. Several traineeships and 

apprenticeships were taken up in City Infrastructure, with a cadetship taken in City Futures. 

This year our Indigenous Traineeship recipient was offered a formal Business Administration Certificate and practical 

work experience.   

 

Service awards 
We formally acknowledged the contribution of our employees to Moreland City Council through the presentation of 

service awards to 169 employees who celebrated five years or more in the organisation. Service award ceremonies are 

held twice a year in both our operations and Civic Centre sites. In 2018-19, the celebrations included three employees 

who have worked at Council for 40 years.  

 

Workplace relations 
Council successfully negotiated for the renewal of the Moreland City Council Enterprise Agreement which expired on 30 

June 2018. Approval by Fair Work Australia of a new agreement was confirmed in March 2019. In developing the new 

agreement to determine future working conditions for Council staff, negotiations were undertaken with 

representatives from the Australian Services Union, Australian Nursing and Midwifery Federation, and Professionals 

Australia along with representatives of Council.  

An organisational restructure was implemented on 3 December. This change was undertaken following extensive 

consultation with Council staff and applicable unions between the months of September and November. The 

restructure resulted in an increased number of departments (from four to five) along with the creation of the Finance 

and Business Systems branch. This change resulted in significant organisational change, but there were no days lost 

because of industrial activity.  
 

 

Building our leadership capability 
Great leaders are critical to driving a constructive culture throughout Council (aligned to the Moreland values) that 

delivers high performance. In 2018-19, we focused on building capability, attracting and nurturing talent and further 

developing our leaders and teams. Initiatives included: 

• Investing in senior manager and executive assessment, and calibration to drive performance. 

• Developing our leaders at all levels, turning our focus towards building the capabilities of our new leaders. 

• Accelerating key talent through tailored on-the-job learning/career development and identifying key talent 

(using set criteria, evidence-based and objective assessment criteria). 

• Working towards strong succession planning and investment in development opportunities.  

• Implementing the new competency framework by aligning our leadership development opportunities to the 

competencies and commencing embedding them into the whole recruitment and management life cycle. 

• Ongoing investment in our culture improvement work. 

• Delivering qualitative feedback for leaders to identify areas of strength and development. 

• Developing a new human resources technology system to use data to track performance and leadership data, 

and insights. 

Leaders across the organisation participated in several development opportunities covering the following topics: 
•     Leadership (including programs such as adaptive leadership styles, Moreland-specific responsibilities,  
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       creating high-performing teams, maintaining relationships, systematic problem-solving, continuous 
improvement, culture and strategic thinking) 

• Recruitment and on-boarding 

• Support and training for new and upcoming leaders  

• Legislative requirements including fair process  

• Participation in cross-council management programs enhancing inter-council relationships for current and 
upcoming leaders. 

 
Managers were also supported with additional coaching, mentoring and tailored team enhancement programs to 
facilitate improved leadership across Council. 
 

Corporate training 
We are committed to investing in our employees through development and training opportunities and recognise that 
building our internal capacity contributes to improving the performance of the organisation. 
 

Category Courses run Attendees (instances) 

Occupational Health and Safety  31  532 

Leadership and Management 16 233 

Business and Workplace Effectiveness  30  246 

Compliance (face-to-face) 27  226 

Compliance (online) 10 1139 

Systems training  45  146 

Total 159 2522 
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Occupational health, safety and risk 

Occupational health and safety (OHS) 
Moreland City Council is committed to providing a healthy and safe environment for all employees, contractors, visitors 

and members of the public. 

We have developed and implemented a safety management system and programs. These actively promote and 

improve the health, safety and wellbeing of all employees and, so far as is reasonably practicable, prevent workplace 

injuries and illnesses.  

We share health and safety information and consult with employees and other stakeholders about how to ensure we 

have a safe workplace. This approach ensures that all our employees, contractors and visitors understand their duties 

and cooperate with Council in its actions around workplace and community safety. 

We are committed to continually improving our safety management system, programs and initiatives. This contributes 

to positive safety culture and puts us in a good position to expand and develop our most valuable resource: Moreland 

City Council employees. 

Key safety initiatives undertaken during this year include: 
 

• Conducting SafetyMAP Surveillance Audits in Recreation, Home Support, IT/Records, Places and Major 
Partnerships, Arts and Culture. 

• Safety and health-and-wellbeing coaching for managers, supervisors and coordinators. 

• Developing an online incident reporting system.  
 
 

OHS training 2018-19 

 

Course 
Courses 

run 
Attendees 
(instances) 

Asbestos Awareness Training  1 8 

Contract Management Training  1 9 

CPR Training  8 101 

Emergency Fire Warden Training 4 70 

First Aid Refresher  6 60 

HSR Refresher Training  1 10 

Manual Handling  7 38 

Manual Handling Awareness Refresher Open Space  1 18 

Noise Awareness  1 23 

Occupational Violence Prevention Training  3 60 

Safety and Wellbeing Essentials for Managers/Supervisors 
(previously OHS, Risk and Injury Management Training) 

1 7 

Safe Work at Heights  1 12 

Sun Smart Education Sessions 7 138 

Traffic Management and Traffic Control  1 15 

TOTAL 43 569 

 

Injury management 
Council takes the safety, health and wellbeing of our employees seriously. 
 

Where an employee is injured at work, Council offers all staff access to an early intervention program, to 
ensure that treatment to their injury starts as soon as reasonably practicable. When an employee submits a 
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WorkCover claim, the claim is actively managed to ensure, as far as is practicable, an early, safe and 
sustainable return to work.  
 

There were 408 incidents reported during this year. The incidents represented 199 general incidents, 76 near misses, 
80 motor vehicle incidents, 20 plant and equipment incidents and 33 hazards. There were 165 injuries represented 
across the 408 incidents. 
 

Council continues to provide a range of programs and targeted interventions to prevent injuries from occurring. 
Ongoing initiatives include the early intervention program, manual handling task-specific training, ergonomic 
assessments and a targeted health-and-wellbeing program.  
 
 

Injury management results 
 

Incidents reported (including injuries) 408 

Injuries reported 165 

Claims 17 

Average claim cost $34,264 

Days lost 438 

Employees returned to work* 13 

Staff who did not return to work** 4 

*For return-to-work information, only time-lost claims have been included.  
** The staff who did not return to work are no longer employed at Council.  

 
 
 

Employee health and wellbeing 
Our Health and Wellbeing Program is designed to support employees to manage their own health and wellbeing 
through ongoing education programs and initiatives. 
 

During the year, employees participated in bone density testing and a range of physical activity sessions at Coburg 
Leisure Centre. We also delivered short seminars covering topics such as nutrition and breast health. 
 
 

Risk management 
Risk management continued to be embedded into the business practices and culture of the organisation. Council’s risk 

management function transitioned into the Corporate Governance branch to better support the needs of the business. 

This resulted in improved business decision-making, employee and community safety, planning, project management, 

business resilience and procurement mitigating risk exposure for Council.  

 

Reporting categories included:  

• Monthly reporting of risk management to the Moreland Executive Group. 

• Monthly Risk Management Committee meetings. 

• Quarterly reporting on risk management to the Audit and Risk Committee. 

• Quarterly review of strategic and operational risks. 

 

Council’s Risk Management Policy and Framework were updated as part of continuous improvement and focused on 

embedding enterprise risk management into Council’s business practices. This aimed to:  

• Provide an improved risk-based approach to business decision-making. 

• Assist in delivering the objectives of the council plan. 
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Council has aligned its enterprise risk management program to the current ISO 31000 2018 risk management 

guidelines. This will ensure that risk management remains a value creation, being integrated, structured and 

comprehensive, customised, inclusive, dynamic, using the best available information, factoring human and culture and 

continual improvement.  

The Fraud and Corruption Prevention Policy was updated, along with the Fraud and Corruption Control Plan and a Fraud 

Risk Register, to ensure that Council employees act with integrity, accountability, impartiality, fairness, equity and 

consistency, and in the public interest.  

Risk Champions were appointed for each department to better support and embed risk management practices 

throughout the business. Risk Champions also form part of the Risk Management Committee providing a valuable 

resource for Council. 

The Risk Management Committee was established through the updated Risk Management Policy, operating as a sub-

committee of the Moreland Executive Group. It is responsible for providing senior management with more detailed and 

timely insight and understanding of the organisation’s key risks and controls.   

Operational and strategic risks continue to be routinely reviewed thus ensuring that the performance of risk controls 

remain effective and within Council’s risk appetite and tolerance levels. Council embarked on an enterprise risk 

management software solution to capture its risks and performance management of those risks.  

Council’s internal audit program undertook nine audits across the business aimed at providing assurance with 

legislative and statutory compliance including business policies and procedures. 

Annual corporate business resilience training was conducted to provide improved awareness and understanding of the 

principles of business continuity. Business impact analyses of critical services were completed and business sub-plans 

were updated. An online training and awareness e-learning module was developed which will be rolled out as part of 

the 2019-20 business continuity continuous improvement program. 

Council conducted a public tender for its insurance brokering service and insurance policy renewals. The tender 

provided assurance that Council has obtained best value for its insurance program in a tightening and distressed global 

market, and that the insurable risks are adequately insured with competitive pricing, policy offerings and overall 

coverage limits. Statutory liability and workplace health and safety insurance policy was purchased, further building 

upon recommendations of Council’s Insurable Risk Profiling and Insurable Gap Analysis undertaken in 2017.
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Our performance 

Planning and accountability framework 

Our integrated planning framework shows the relationship between Moreland City Council’s vision, strategies, plans, budgets and programs that 

drive our service delivery, projects and resource allocation. 

Council will communicate its achievements and challenges through the annual council action plan, budget and advocacy program.  
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Council Plan 

Moreland City Council’s Council Plan 2017-21 sets the strategic direction for the corresponding four-year council term. It was informed by extensive 

consultation with the community, Councillors and staff between January and April 2017. The plan was also guided by the Moreland 2025 Community 

Vision and other existing strategies, research, internal and external policies and plans. 

The plan is framed around an overarching vision and three strategic objectives. 

Vision: Moreland will be known for its proud diversity and for being a connected, progressive and sustainable city in which to live, work and play. 

Strategic objectives: 

1. Connected Community 

2. Progressive City 

3. Responsible Council. 

These strategic objectives provide guidance and focus for Council and are supported by aligned key priorities, which inform the specific actions that 

Council will take, for the benefit of the Moreland community.  

Council also produces a strategic resource plan, which spans beyond the life of the council plan and outlines the resourcing for implementation, 

including Council’s capital works program. 

Each year a council action plan is developed with reference to the four-year council plan and strategic resource plan. 
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Performance against our objectives 

Council’s ongoing monitoring and reporting of performance through monthly, quarterly and annual reports ensures we are accountable, transparent 

and comply with legislation. 

Our performance in this annual report is reported against the three strategic objectives of the plan and is broken into: 
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1. Results of strategic indicators in the council plan.  

Strategic indicators are a set of key measures used to determine Council’s performance against the council plan key priorities.  

2. Progress of major initiatives supporting the council plan key priorities. 

Each year, a council action plan is created that sets out the key activities to be implemented within the financial year to achieve the objectives of the 

council plan. The major initiatives from the 2018-19 council action plan are referenced in this section of the annual report. 

3. Description of services funded in the 2018-19 budget, as aligned to the council plan key priority areas, actual cost of services in the 2018-19 

financial period and any variances.  

 

(Above: 2018-19 budget breakdown across the three council-plan strategic objectives)  

4. Results of prescribed service performance indicators and measures, as drawn from the mandatory Local Government Performance Reporting 

Framework (LGPRF), across nine Council services.   

 

This framework ensures that all councils are measuring and reporting on their performance in a consistent way. Not all council services are 

reported  and measured under the LGPRF (referred to on the following pages as Service Performance Indicators). The table below outlines what is 

included in LGPRF reporting: 

23%

47%

30%
Connected Community

Progressive City

Responsible Council
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LGPRF Service areas: 

• Aquatic facilities 

• Animal management 

• Food safety 

• Governance 

• Libraries 

• Maternal and Child Health (MCH) 

• Roads 

• Statutory planning 

• Waste collection 

 

Some of the information below is repeated in the performance statement section of this report, on page 94. The below includes commentary and 

figures in addition to the LGPRF requirements met in the performance statement, which is auditable by the Victorian Auditor-General’s Office 

(VAGO). 

Note: An organisational restructure during 2018–19 resulted in some areas moving to different portfolios. The portfolios below align with the 2019–

20 budget and are consistent with the Council Plan 2017–21. They equate to the dollars in the original 2018–19 budget allocation.  
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Strategic Objective 1: CONNECTED COMMUNITY  

Key Priority 

1.    Achieve higher levels of social cohesion for our multicultural, established and newly arrived community, by 
fostering opportunities for shared learning and celebration. 

Strategic indicator / measure 2018-19 result Comments  

People feel that Council supports the 

diversity of the Moreland community. 

95% satisfaction 

achieved 

According to the Moreland City Council (MCC) 

Customer Satisfaction Survey 2019 (LGV), Council 

was rated at 95% satisfied for its performance in 

supporting the diversity of the Moreland 

community, which is in line with the previous year’s 

result.  

 Major initiatives                       Progress 
Social Cohesion Plan development: implementation 

of the Social Cohesion Plan and monitoring and 

evaluation framework developed. 

Council’s Social Cohesion Plan and monitoring and evaluation 

framework includes indicators on unemployment, low-income 

households, community satisfaction with local government, 

population migration and change, community attitudes towards 

social and cultural diversity and population diversity. The 

information will inform the investment of resources to implement 

the Social Cohesion Plan. 

Fawkner Food Bowls garden: developed and 

established. 

 

Local Fawkner residents Kelly and Sally established the Fawkner 

Food Bowls food growing hub and social gathering space, with the 

support of Neighbourhood Project funding and Council. Located on 

a disused bowling green at the Fawkner Bowling Club, a dedicated 

committee of eight local residents has brought together a diverse 

range of Fawkner community members to learn food growing, 

preparation skills, share meals and produce. Community 

partnerships have formed between Fawkner Food Bowls and other 

organisations facilitating access to healthy fresh food, such as The 

Community Grocer, Open Table and Fawkner Wholefoods 

Collective. 
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Library strategy: developed and presented to Council 

for endorsement. 

 

At the March Council meeting, the Library Services Strategy 2019-

23 was adopted. The strategy outlines the priorities for Moreland's 

library services for the next five years. Extensive community 

consultation and valuable feedback was received during this 

process, providing insight into the current library experience and 

future expectations. Moreland’s library service changes lives, by 

offering the community a free place to learn, create, connect and 

belong. 

Services 

The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2018-19 budget, the actual cost, 

and the persons or sections of the community who are provided with the service. 

Service 

 

 

Description   Budgeted 

revenue 

Budgeted 

expenditure 

Total 

$000 

Actual  

revenue 

Actual 

expenditure 

Total 

$000 

Variance 

$000  

Library services and 

resources 

This service provides library lending services, 

programs and extension services, information 

services and facilities. 

(1,262) 

5,644 

4,383 

(1,393) 

5,902 

4,509 

    (126)                

Community 

Development and 

Social Policy 

This service aims to enhance community 

wellbeing through community development, 

social policy and planning, and works to assist 

communities to become empowered and able 

to meet their own needs and aspirations, and 

(178) 

2,440 

2,262 

 

(282) 

2,097 

1,815 

447 
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to navigate issues that affect their health and 

wellbeing. 

 

Service Performance Indicators  

Results  

Service indicator / measure  2016 2017 2018 2019 Comments 

Libraries utilisation 

Library collection usage 

[Number of library collection 

item loans / Number of library 

collection items] 

5.13 4.32 4.27 4.17 

 

The decrease in physical 

visits to Moreland libraries 

was affected by the closure 

of Coburg Library from 8 to 

25 November for 

renovations. Unique visits to 

the library website increased 

by 14% and usage of e-

resources grew 60%. 

Resource standard 

Standard of library collection 

[Number of library collection 

items purchased in the last five 

years / Number of library 

collection items] x 100 

78.08% 75.34% 75.72% 74.64% 

While the majority of our 

collections were purchased in 

the past five years, we also 

have a strong local history 

collection that has been 

developed over time and is 

an invaluable resource. 

Additionally, we have 

established stack collections 

that include older materials 

still in demand for Home 

Library patrons, hard-to-

replace and classic resources 

in Culturally and Linguistically 

Diverse (CALD) languages, 

and holiday-themed 

children’s books which have 

a longer lifespan. We balance 

older collections with Top 10 
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and Top 5 collections of 

recent, critically-acclaimed 

and popular titles that 

continue to be a success with 

the community. This year 

also saw the introduction of 

Vox books, a new picture 

book which can play an audio 

recording of the story and 

the streaming film service 

Kanopy, which offers quality 

independent, documentary 

and children’s films. Both Vox 

books and Kanopy have been 

extremely popular. 

Service cost 

Cost of library service 

[Direct cost of the library service 

/ Number of visits] 

$7.49 $7.19 $7.54 $8.04 

Conversion of several casual 

staff to permanent part-time 

positions has increased the 

service cost this year. 

Participation 

Active library members 

[Number of active library 

members / Municipal 

population] x100 

15.15% 15.63% 14.85% 13.85% 

The number of active library 

members has declined by 1%, 

affected by waiving the 

requirement to register as a 

library member to use the 

free wi-fi. Wi-fi use has 

increased 5% since the policy 

change. Additionally, the 

figures still do not include 

attendance at Moreland’s 

extensive range of events 

and outreach sessions, which 

continues to be strong. 
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Additional community-led 

programs started this year, 

including events for the 

Nepali, Turkish and Urdu 

communities, and 

attendance at Libraries After 

Dark has been growing. 

Meanwhile Council’s online 

presence continues to 

develop, with increased 

usage of its website (14% 

growth) and Facebook page 

impressions (up 45%). 

Key Priority: 

2. Set a clear vision and strategy for aquatics, leisure and sporting facilities to meet ongoing community needs. 

Strategic indicator / measure 2018-19 result Comments  

Set a clear vision and strategy 
for aquatics, leisure and 
sporting facilities to meet 
ongoing community needs. 

100% of actions  
achieved 

The Aquatic and Leisure Strategy 2018-38 was 
endorsed during 2017-18, which was year one of the 
Council Plan 2017-21.  

 Major initiatives                       Progress 
The Oak Park Sports and Aquatic Precinct The Oak Park Sports and Aquatic Precinct project was completed in 

October 2018, ahead of schedule and within budget. Within one 
month of its opening in November, the centre had had more than 
18,000 attendances. The facility has also been used for school 
swimming carnivals and has introduced a learn-to-swim program, 
mind and wellness programs and virtual sprint classes. 

At the end of the first eight months of operation, Oak Park Sports 
and Aquatic Centre had: 

• 167,919 attendances, 

• sold 20,335 water slide passes, 

• hosted 32 school swim carnivals, and 
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• 1,463 members. 1,350 of those are sole users of Oak Park and 
102 have a universal membership to access all of Moreland’s 
aquatic and leisure facilities. 

Investing in women’s and girls’ sport across 
Moreland 

Council has dedicated resources to work with local clubs to 
champion sport for women and girls in Moreland, including female 
-friendly environments and cultures. Moreland is the first council in 
Victoria to have all clubs who receive winter/annual allocation to 
council facilities have girls and women on their committees and all 
field female teams.  

Upgrades and management of active sporting 
infrastructure 

As per the annual program of work, Clifton Park West sports field 
lighting, Glenroy Bowls synthetic green and female-friendly change 
room projects at Hallam Reserve and Dunstan Reserve projects 
were completed on time and budget.  

The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2018-19 budget, the actual cost, 
and the persons or sections of the community who are provided with the service. 

Service Description   Budgeted 
revenue 

Budgeted 
Expenditure 

Total 
$000 

 

Actual  
revenue 

Actual 
expenditure 

Total 
$000 

Variance 
$000  

Aquatic and Leisure 
Facilities 

This service provides contract management 
of the appointed service provider for Active 
Moreland aquatic and leisure services 
(which includes aquatic facilities); direction 
and oversight of the Active Moreland 
program and service development; 
compliance auditing across a range of 

0 

2,842 

2,842 

 

(146) 
3,537 
3,391 

(549) 
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functions to deliver the objectives and 
outcomes required of the contract; capital 
maintenance and infrastructure 
improvement planning and project 
supervision; and policy development and 
review.   

Recreation Services This service aims to improve sport and 
physical activity participation for people of 
all ages, gender, background and ability by 
promoting the use of recreation facilities 
and enhancing the capacity of local 
recreation, sporting clubs and community 
organisations to deliver services. 

(321) 

1,282 

961 

 

(345) 
1,468 
1,123 

(162) 
 
 

Service Performance Indicators  

Results  

Service indicator/measure  2016 2017 2018 2019 Comment 

Aquatic facilities 

Service standard 

Health inspections of aquatic 

facilities 

[Number of authorised officer 

inspections of Council aquatic 

facilities / Number of Council 

aquatic facilities] 

1.50 1.17 1.00 

 

0.83 

 

Five of the six centres were 

inspected by an authorised 

officer over the 12 month 

period. One facility was not 

inspected as it closed 

earlier than expected. 

Health and safety 

Reportable safety incidents at 

aquatic facilities 

[Number of WorkSafe 

reportable aquatic facility safety 

incidents] 

9 2 2 5 

With an increase in the 

number of aquatic facilities, 

following the reopening of 

Oak Park Sports and 

Aquatic Centre and a 

favourable summer season, 

the number of visits to 

pools increased almost 17 

per cent, this contributed 
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to five reportable safety 

incidents, up from two the 

prior year. 

Service cost 

Cost of indoor aquatic facilities 

[Direct cost of indoor aquatic 

facilities less income received / 

Number of visits to indoor 

aquatic facilities] 

$0.06 $0.88 $0.75 $0.61 

 

Increased service delivery 

costs and utility costs 

(electricity and gas) were 

offset by additional 

attendances due to a 

favourable summer season. 

Service Cost 

Cost of outdoor aquatic facilities 

[Direct cost of outdoor aquatic 

facilities less income received / 

Number of visits to outdoor 

aquatic facilities] 

$8.82 $9.14 $7.28 $8.18 

With the reopening of Oak 

Park Sports and Aquatic 

Centre, increased 

patronage and a warm 

summer season, this has 

resulted in a better budget 

outcome, compared to 

2017 when all pools were 

in operation. 

Utilisation 
Utilisation of aquatic facilities 
 
[Number of visits to aquatic 
facilities / Municipal 
population] 

5.49 5.51 5.30 6.18 With an increase in the 
number of facilities, 
following the reopening 
of Oak Park Sports and 
Aquatic Centre, a 
favourable summer 
season and a general 
increase in membership 
and participation 
numbers throughout the 
year, aquatic facilities 
saw an overall increase in 
attendances across the 
municipality. 
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Key Priority: 

3. Determine the best way for Moreland to continue supporting our community throughout, and after Aged 
Care and NDIS reforms. 

Strategic indicator / measure 2018-19 result Comments  

Clarity on how Moreland will 
support the community in Aged Care 
and Disability. 

100% of 
actions achieved 

Council reports tabled at the June 2019 Council 
meeting, have outlined the future position endorsed 
by Council for both Aged Care and Disability. 

 Major initiatives                       Progress 

Living and Ageing Well in Moreland 
 

The Living and Ageing Well in Moreland Framework was 
endorsed at the June 2019 Council meeting. This 
framework establishes actions across Council drawing on 
existing key objectives and strategies, to improve the 
health and wellbeing of older people in Moreland.   

 

Responding to Aged Care and NDIS reforms. 
 

At the Council meeting in June 2019, a report was tabled 
which provides the endorsed future position, while NDIS 
transition continues and until future HACC funding is 
determined. Council will also continue to provide CHSP 
services while it receives block funding, with the 
Commonwealth indicating funding will continue through 
to 30 June 2022.  
 

The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2018-19 budget, the actual cost, 
and the persons or sections of the community who are provided with the service. 

Service Description   Budgeted 
revenue 

Budgeted 
expenditure 

Total 
$000 

 

Actual  
revenue 

Actual 
expenditure 

Total 
$000 

Variance 
$000  

Social Support Services This service delivers several specific social 
support programs, including Community 
Transport, Food Services, Planned Activity 
Group (which provides activities and lunch for 

(845) 

3,288 

2,443 

(761) 
1,777 
1,016 

1,427 
 

Variance 
note: With 
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socially isolated eligible residents residing in 
low-cost or insecure accommodation), and the 
provision of information and support to older 
community residents and senior citizens groups. 

 clients 
continuing 

to transition 
to the NDIS, 
there was a 

decreased 
demand for 

services 
across the 

year. 
Service 

delivery 
needs were 
met within 

existing 
staff, with a 

reduced 
requirement 
for contract 

staff to fill 
vacancies. 

Home Care This service aims to assist residents to remain 
living at home independently and in a safe and 
secure environment. Specific services include 
home maintenance, home support, respite 
support and personal support. 

(8,666) 

11,277 

2,611 

 

(8,165) 
10,696 

2,531 

80 
 
 
 

Assessment Services  This service provides the Home and Community 
Care (HACC) program to older people, people 
with a disability and their carers, referrals to 
and information about other related services, 
and assistance with care coordination. 

(869) 

1,458 

589 

 

(950) 
1,446 

497 

92 

Key priority: 

4. Enhance family and children’s services to meet the needs of Moreland’s growing population and increasing 
birth rate. 

Strategic indicator / measure 2018-19 result Comments  

To keep pace with population and 
birth rate growth. 100% of actions  

achieved 

In 2018-19, 2727 birth notifications were received in 
Moreland and 2729 were enrolled in Moreland’s 
MCH service. Following a birth notification in 
Moreland, Council’s MCH service proactively makes 
contact with all families.  
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Progress of major initiatives in the Council Plan:                      Status 
Moreland Play Strategy 2016-20  Council encourages increased participation of adults and children 

in passive outdoor activities through the completion of the 
annual playground upgrade program. By June 2019, the following 
reserves were upgraded: 

- Jacobs Reserve 

- Hosken Reserve 

- Allard Park 

- Austin Crescent/Gavin Park 

- Denzil Don Reserve 

Maternal and Child Health 
 
 
 

In Maternal and Child Health, Council has been delivering the 
Circle of Security Parenting Program to mothers who are referred 
into the program. We are delivering this in partnership with 
Reynard Neighbourhood House who provide child care while the 
parent is participating in the program. We have had positive 
feedback and are looking to run the program for fathers soon.  
We have formed a stronger relationship this year with Relatewell 
who already provide counselling services out of some of our MCH 
sites. The new work sees outreach counselling to families at their 
homes who are experiencing a high level of vulnerability. 
Relatewell and our Enhanced Maternal and Child Health nurses 
are working closely in this program.  

Immunisations Total number of immunisations 2018-19  
·   Under 5s  4181 
·   High school students 3071 
·   Adults 913 

The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2018-19 budget, the actual cost, 
and the persons or sections of the community who are provided with the service. 

Service Description   Budgeted 
revenue 

Budgeted 
expenditure 

Total 
$000 

 

Actual  
revenue 

Actual 
expenditure 

Total 
$000 

Variance 
$000  
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The Maternal and 
Child Health (and 
Immunisations) 

The Maternal and Child Health (and 
Immunisations) service supports the optimal 
health and development of young children and 
families in their parenting role. Specific activities 
include: parenting support and education; health 
promotion; immunisations; monitoring of growth 
and development in children; and early 
identification of and attention to child and family 
health issues.  

(1,713) 

4,974 

3,261 

 

(1,845) 
5,186 
3,340 

(79) 
 

Children's Services This service provides support to families and 
children through the Moreland Primary School 
Holiday Program, the Moreland Family Day Care 
program and the development and facilitation of 
local children’s services networks, advocacy, 
policy development, strategic planning, and the 
provision of resourcing and support to early year 
service providers. 

(1,681) 

2,860 

1,179 

 

(1,678) 
2,797 
1,120 

59 
 
 

Service Performance Indicators  

Results  

Service Indicator/measure  2016 2017 2018 2019 Comments 

Maternal and Child Health 
(MCH) 
satisfaction 
Participation in first MCH 
home visit 
 
[Number of first MCH home 
visits / Number of birth 
notifications received] x 100 

94.58% 90.02% 88.90% 91.12% 
 

Council makes contact 
with every family whose 
details are provided as 
part of the birth 
notifications process. 
Some families do not 
continue through 
Moreland’s MCH service 
due to a change in 
address. Council transfers 
these families to their 
home municipality. MCH 
nurses visit all families at 
home and at the first 
appointment book their 
two, four and eight-week 
appointments. The 
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increase in participation is 
due to fewer transfers 
out from prior year. The 
increase is due to 
concentrated efforts by 
staff to increase 
attendances for the eight-
month visits. 

Service standard 
Infant enrolments in the MCH 
service 
 
[Number of infants enrolled in 
the MCH service (from birth 
notifications received) / 
Number of birth notifications 
received] x 100 

101.04% 101.83% 101.33% 101.41% 
 

These figures show the 
number of children who 
are enrolled into our MCH 
service from the birth 
notifications that Council 
receives. Slight increase 
due to fewer transfers to 
other councils. 

Service cost 
Cost of the MCH service 
 
[Cost of the MCH service / 
Hours worked by MCH nurses] 

$81.80 $85.63 $75.21 $73.87 
 

The cost of the MCH 
service is dependent on 
state government 
funding, which varies year 
on year. 

Participation 
Participation in the MCH 
service 
 
[Number of children who 
attend the MCH service at 
least once (in the year) / 
Number of children enrolled in 
the MCH service] x 100 

68.65% 67.87% 69.61% 71.41% 
 

Council makes contact 
with 100% of families 
following a birth. In some 
cases, families opt to seek 
alternative family support 
services as their child 
grows. Our service assists 
families to connect with 
other community support 
services and networks. 
The increase is due to a 
concentrated effort to 
increase attendance at 
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the Key Age and Stage 8-
month visit. 

Participation 
Participation in the MCH 
service by Aboriginal children 
 
[Number of Aboriginal 
children who attend the MCH 
service at least once (in the 
year) / Number of Aboriginal 
children enrolled in the MCH 
service] x 100 

53.75% 61.90% 65.12% 77.78% Rates of engagement 
from Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander 
families has risen with a 
higher rate of births this 
year. Some Aboriginal 
families choose to access 
MCH services from an 
Aboriginal Community 
Controlled Health Service, 
which is available in a 
neighbouring 
municipality. 

  

Key Priority: 

5. Better equip our young people for employment and provide opportunities to actively participate in civic life. 

Strategic indicator / measure 2018-19 result Comments  

People feel that Council supports 

the provision of opportunities for 

young people 

83% satisfaction  

achieved 

This is the result from the MCC Customer Satisfaction 

Survey 2019 question about providing a range of 

spaces that meet the needs of young people. The 

question changed in 2018 to: Providing a range of 

youth space options that meet the needs of young 

people. This may have affected the result which is 7 

percentile points down or 8% decrease from the 

prior year. 

 Major initiatives                       Progress 
Moreland’s Young People – draft strategy Approximately 2,300 young people, local service 

organisations and educators were consulted. The draft 

strategy has been released for public feedback, which will 
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conclude by the end of July 2019. The five outcome areas to 

best support young people include: 

1. Improving our service system,  

2. Enhancing voice and participation,  

3. Increasing skills and job opportunities,  

4. Supporting health and resilience, and  

5. Providing youth-friendly spaces and places.      

The strategy will be finalised in the 2019-20 financial year. 

Oxygen - Moreland Youth Services Oxygen - Moreland Youth Services is Council's main service 
to young people and is resourced by a dedicated team of 
youth workers, committed to improving the lives of young 
people. Some of the programs offered by Oxygen include 
vocational training in barista, first-aid and responsible 
service of alcohol, work readiness and employment 
programs. Employment programs include The Shift 
(featuring Coles) and pool lifeguard training, work 
experience and student placements and advice on 
traineeships and career pathways. The service connects 
young people to free social and recreational activities such 
as sport, like the female-only boxing sessions and basketball 
clinics, as well as art and music programs and other life 
skills activities such as cooking and gardening to help young 
people build skills and make new connections in a fully 
supervised space. 

The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2018-19 budget, the actual cost, 

and the persons or sections of the community who are provided with the service. 

Service Description   Budgeted 

revenue 

Budgeted 

expenditure 

Total 

Actual  

revenue 

Actual 

expenditure 

Total 

Variance 

$000  
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$000 $000 

Youth Services This service aims to enhance the lives of young 
people and provide safe, supportive and 
engaging services, spaces and programs for 
young people to learn, connect and socialise. 
Specific service activities include: facility 
planning and development, program delivery, 
and planning and partnerships.  

(165) 

1,255 

1,090 

 

(134) 
1,193 
1,059 

 

31 
 

 

Key Priority: 

6.    Help people feel safer in our neighbourhoods.  

Strategic indicator / measure 2018-19 result Comments  

People feel safer in our 

neighbourhoods 

i) 92% agreement 

achieved  

 

ii) 72% agreement 

achieved 

Results from the Community Indicators Survey 2018, 

where by the following two questions were asked of 

survey participants as to whether they agree and 

disagree with the statement: 

i) Your area is a safe place to live during the day, and 

ii) Your area is a safe place to live during the night.  

Results in line with previous survey period, 2016. 

 Major initiatives  
 

                    Progress 

Lighting of the Upfield shared path Lighting of the Upfield shared path between Moreland Road and 

Tinning Street is being designed by LXRP as part of the Moreland 

Road level crossing removal and is subject to LXRP timing. This 

section will not be delivered this financial year.  

Instead, officers produced detailed design lighting plans for 

VicRoads to implement on five other sections of the Upfield 

shared path as follows: 

• Fawkner Station to Box Forest Road 

• Plaisted Street to Shorts Road 

• Spry Street to Bakers Road 

• Rogers Street to O’Hea Street 
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• Renown Street to Batman Train Station (was designed but 

completed by Metro Trains). 

Breaking barriers through sport 

 

Council has received $70,000 to help young women and girls 
from diverse backgrounds join mainstream sport. The money 
comes from the Local Government Free From Violence Grants 
Program for the Count Me In Too program. This program is a 
partnership between Council, Merri Health, Melbourne 
University, sporting clubs and community leaders. 

The aim of the program is to increase participation by young 
women and girls from diverse backgrounds in organised, 
mainstream sporting clubs as a way of creating leadership and 
embedding gender equity. Council will work with girls and young 
women to develop a community action plan, support clubs to 
include women and girls from diverse backgrounds and provide 
training and activities to address gaps and needs. These and 
other actions aim to join about 50 new young women and girls 
from Glenroy and Fawkner into local sporting clubs. 

The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2018-19 budget, the 
actual cost, and the persons or sections of the community who are provided with the service. 
Service Description   Budgeted 

revenue 
Budgeted 

expenditure 
Total 
$000 

Actual  
revenue 

Actual 
expenditure 

Total 
$000 

Variance 
$000  

Amenity and 
Compliance 

This service aims to improve the safety, 
amenity and access within the municipality. 
Specific services include: parking 
enforcement, local laws, animal 
management, and school crossings service.  

(8,659) 

6,186 

(2,473) 

 

(10,291) 
6,726 

(3,565) 

1,092 
 

Variance note: 
Council has 

improved its 
procedures 

resulting in better 
efficiency and a 

higher-than-
predicted number 

of parking fines. 
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Service Performance Indicators  

Results  

Service indicator / measure  2016 2017 2018 2019 Comments  

Animal Management 

Timeliness 

Time taken to action animal 

management requests 

[Number of days between 

receipt and first response 

action for all animal 

management requests / 

Number of animal 

management requests] 

14.80 17.00 12.85 6.79 

 

The use of field-enabled 

technology and the 

implementation of 

system and process 

improvements has led to 

a significant improvement 

in resolution times for 

animal management 

requests.  

Service standard 

Animals reclaimed 

[Number of animals reclaimed 

/ Number of animals collected] 

x 100 

49.95% 54.59% 65.28% 63.37% 

 

Council encourages 

residents to register their 

animals thereby providing 

an increased opportunity 

to reunite pets with their 

owners.  

This is achieved through 

education campaigns, for 

example, attendance at 

Glenroy Festival, 

information on Council’s 

webpage and distribution 

of Pet Welcome Packs, 

and by providing an 

incentive of free first-year 

registration for cats. 
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Service cost 

Cost of animal management 

service 

 

[Direct cost of the animal 

management service / Number 

of registered animals] 

$43.71 $52.09 $57.35 $66.50 

 

An increase in the 

contract cost of the 

Epping Animal Welfare 

Facility as a shared 

resource between three 

councils has resulted in 

an increase in operation 

costs, however the new 

facility provides a 

superior standard of care 

for animals housed at the 

brand new, purpose-built 

facility. 

The increase in the 

overall cost of the animal 

management service is 

also attributed to 

expenditure on officer 

training and safety 

equipment. 

Health and safety 

Animal management 

prosecutions 

[Number of successful animal 

management prosecutions] 

3 2 3 3 Moreland City Council 

applies resources to 

ensure that animal 

management matters are 

investigated and where 

appropriate prosecuted 

in Court. Council has 

successfully prosecuted 

all cases that have been 

brought before a 

Magistrate. Numerous 

other matters have been 
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resolved prior to 

attendance in court. 

 

 

 

 

 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 2: Progressive City 

Key Priority: 

1. Enhance liveability, affordability and sustainability by guiding growth, and excellence in urban design and 
development. 

Strategic Indicator 2018-19 result Comments  

Successful implementation of 
Moreland’s Local Planning Policy 
Framework (LPPF). 

100% of actions 
achieved 

 

The LPPF was reviewed as part of the Planning 
Scheme Review Report in June 2018. The review 
found that the Moreland Planning Scheme was 
operating well and that significant improvements 
had been made in recent years. To ensure the 
Moreland Planning Scheme continues to support the 
delivery of a sustainable, liveable Moreland and 
reflects recently adopted policies, strategies and 
State Government reforms, the review made 31 
recommendations for further work. Implementation 
of the high priority actions are currently underway. 

 Major initiatives                       Progress 
Amendment C174 to the Moreland Planning Scheme 
proposes to implement the recommendations of the 
Moreland Heritage Gap Study 2019 and introduce 
the Heritage Overlay on a permanent basis to 78 
individual heritage places, four heritage precincts, 
three serial listings and 10 precinct extensions to the 
Moreland Planning Scheme. 

At the 13 March Council meeting, Council resolved to request 
that the Minister for Planning appoint an independent panel to 
hear submissions to Amendment C174. 

A panel hearing was held from 6 May to 7 May. Nine submitters 
presented at the panel hearing. 
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 The report of the panel was received on Thursday 20 June and is 
available for the public to read on Council’s website. 

A report to Council recommending adoption of the amendment 
with changes in response to the panel’s recommendations is 
being prepared and will likely be reported to the September 
Council meeting. 

Virtual Moreland: improve consultation with 
community  

Council’s 3D visualisation technology was on show as part of a 
National Gallery of Victoria showcase in Brunswick. A concept 
design for the proposed Saxon Street civic space, created through 
the Virtual Moreland Project, was available for the public to view 
as part of Melbourne Design Week. The display will not form part 
of the official Saxon Street consultation, but will be used as an 
example of what the technology can do. 

Council was recently successful in obtaining a $396,900 grant 
from the Commonwealth Government’s Smart Cities and Suburbs 
program to use the technology to develop a 3D model of 
Moreland’s activity centres and an app to view 3D models for 
major planning permit applications. This grant, along with in-kind 
support from Council and project-partner contributions of 
$89,985 will help deliver the project. 

Improved planning services 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A report to the June Council meeting noted the success of 
Council’s proactive planning enforcement program. This included 
an audit of 100 development sites across Moreland. It is 
noteworthy that the 44 per cent of sites with a breach under the 
new revised process is significantly lower than the 100 per cent 
with a breach audited in 2017. The differential may be explained 
by Council officers advising owners and builders early that they 
are being audited. This appears to have reduced the likelihood of 
a breach. It reflects a change in the development industry’s 
behaviour which was a key objective of the new proactive 
program. 

Better planning and development outcomes At its February meeting, Council resolved to a 12-month trial of 
the Design Excellence Scorecard. The scorecard focuses on 
enhancing outcomes beyond the requirements of the planning 
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scheme across four key areas: building design and materials, ESD 
and building performance, building accessibility and community 
benefit. Permit applicants are required to provide significantly 
improved development outcomes and community benefit 
defined by Council in the scorecard. This will be provided in 
exchange for increased certainty and time savings in the permit 
process, created by guaranteed decision-making under 
delegation. Additional urban design resources and the 
preparation of Good Design Advice Sheets are making a positive 
contribution to development outcomes. 

The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2018-19 budget, the actual cost, 
and the persons or sections of the community who are provided with the service. 

Service Description   Budgeted 
revenue 

Budgeted 
expenditure 

Total 
$000 

 

Actual  
revenue 

Actual 
expenditure 

Total 
$000 

Variance 
$000  

City Development 

 

The unit manages building permit and 
building consent applications, all food and 
other health-related premise registrations 
and the associated compliance activities 
associated with planning, building and 
environmental health registration processes. 

(13,957) 

6,158 

(7,800) 

 

(14,480) 
5,317  

(9,163)   
 

1,363 
 

Variance 
note: Council 

received 
higher than 

budgeted 
subdivider 

contributions 
throughout 

the year. 
 
  

Environmental Health 
This service works to prevent food-borne 
illness (food safety), the prevention of 
infectious disease, achieving compliance in 
prescribed accommodation, nuisance-
complaint investigation and resolution, and 
provides support to the Municipal 

(872) 

1,032 

160 

 

(967)  
906 
(61) 

221 
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Emergency Management Plan and provision 
of public-health-related information. 

Building Services 
This service aims to provide a safe and 
habitable built environment for all 
stakeholders by meeting Council’s statutory 
obligations under the Building Act 1993 and 
subordinate legislation. 

(560) 

1,491 

932 

 

(789) 
1,447 

658 

274 
 
 

City Strategy and 

Design 

This service is responsible for the 
implementation of planning scheme 
amendments, including: 
assessing and processing amendment 
applications; development and 
implementation of plans, policies, strategies 
and assessments to facilitate environmental 
sustainability; development and 
implementation of plans, policies, guidelines, 
studies and strategies to guide the 
sustainable use and development of land in 
Moreland; and developing, monitoring, 
implementing and reviewing a broad range 
of urban design projects. 
This service addresses multiple key priority 
actions in the council plan. 

(3) 

3,057 

3,054 

 

(201) 
3,393 
3,192 

(138) 
 
 

Service Performance Indicators  

Results  

Service indicator / measure  2016 2017 2018 2019 Comments   

Food safety 
timeliness 
 
Time taken to action food 
complaints 
 
[Number of days between 
receipt and first response 

3.20 3.26 3.83 2.94 
 

The average timeframe 
decreased in 2018 due to 
a concentrated effort to 
reduce response 
timeframes. 
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action for all food complaints / 
Number of food complaints] 

Service standard 
 
Food safety assessments 
 
[Number of registered class 1 
food premises and class 2 food 
premises that receive an 
annual food safety assessment 
in accordance with the Food 
Act 1984 / Number of 
registered class 1 food 
premises and class 2 food 
premises that require an 
annual food safety assessment 
in accordance with the Food 
Act 1984] x 100 

87.35% 100.00% 87.98% 89.64% 
 

In 2017-2018 a decrease 
in annual assessment 
numbers was observed 
following a change to a 
more qualitative and risk 
based food safety 
assessment approach. 
With these operational 
approaches embedded 
we are now seeing an 
improvement in both the 
quality and number of 
assessments being 
undertaken, with more 
assessments being 
completed than the 
previous year. 

 

Service cost 
Cost of food safety service 
 
[Direct cost of the food safety 
service / Number of food 
premises registered or notified 
in accordance with the Food 
Act 1984] 

$565.14 $577.59 $590.72 $561.44 
 

Cost of the service has 
reduced by almost 5 per 
cent on prior year. 
Variations are often a 
result of staffing levels 
throughout the year. 

Health and safety 
Critical and major non-
compliance outcome 
notifications 
 

100.00% 98.70% 97.60% 100.00% The embedding of the 
risk-based premises 
assessment program 
and a focussed effort 
on following up non-
compliant premises, 
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[Number of critical non-
compliance outcome 
notifications and major non-
compliance notifications about 
a food premises followed up / 
Number of critical non-
compliance outcome 
notifications and major non-
compliance notifications about 
a food premises] x 100 

has increased the 
follow up rate. 

Statutory planning 
timeliness 
Time taken to decide planning 
applications 
 
[The median number of days 
between receipt of a planning 
application and a decision on 
the application] 

83 98 100 116 
 

Council receives a high 
number of medium and 
high-density planning 
applications. This results 
in higher levels of 
requests for further 
information and 
increased public 
notification, in 
comparison to other 
metropolitan and inner-
city councils. Council 
places a high value on 
meaningful consultation 
meetings between 
affected residents and 
permit applicants on 
these application types, 
impacting overall 
timeframes.  

Service standard 
Planning applications decided 
within required time frames 
 
[Number of regular planning 
application decisions made 

59.01% 57.73% 61.64% 60.09% 
 

Council’s performance 
against statutory 
timeframes, is reflective 
of the complexity of 
planning applications that 
Council receives and this 
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within 60 days) + (Number of 
VicSmart planning application 
decisions made within 10 days) 
/ Number of planning 
application decisions made] x 
100 

is in line with similar 
councils. 

Service cost 
Cost of statutory planning 
service 
 
[Direct cost of the statutory 
planning service / Number of 
planning applications received] 

$2,124.15 $2,605.90 $2,891.45 $3,365.93 
 

Moreland receives a high 
number of applications to 
amend planning permits 
associated with its higher 
medium and high-density 
development 
applications. A reduction 
in planning applications 
and a change this year to 
no longer include 
amendments to permits 
has reduced the total 
number of applications in 
this measure resulting in 
the cost per application 
increase. 

Decision-making 
Council planning decisions 
upheld at VCAT 
 
[Number of VCAT decisions 
that did not set aside Council's 
decision in relation to a 
planning application / Number 
of VCAT decisions in relation to 
planning applications] x 100 

57.14% 39.73% 51.09% 47.14% Marginal change in result 
in 2018-19 reflects the 
decrease in number of 
appeals to VCAT from 92 
in 2017-18 to 70 in 2018-
19. 

Key Priority: 

2. Facilitate a demonstrable shift to more sustainable modes of transport that also targets a long-term 
reduction in car use. 
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Strategic Indicator 2018-19 result Comments  

Increase in sustainable modes of 
transport 

100% of actions 
achieved 

 

The Moreland Integrated Transport Strategy and 

Parking Implementation Plan were endorsed by 

Council at its meeting on 13 March 2019, which 

included Council also authorising officers to prepare 

an amendment to the planning scheme to 

implement the strategy and plan. 

  Progress of major initiatives in the Council Plan:                      Status 
Endorsement of the Moreland Integrated Transport 
Strategy 

The Moreland Integrated Transport Strategy and Parking 
Implementation Plan was endorsed by Council at its meeting on 
13 March 2019. In preparing the strategy, Council reached out to 
the community to understand the role of transport and its impact 
on how we live, work, play and socialise. We received responses 
from hundreds of people all over Moreland. While many of the 
policies and actions set out in the strategy will not work instantly, 
the decisions made and actions we take now will sow the seed 
for transport in Moreland to flourish over the next decade and 
beyond.  

Council advocacy - Level Crossing Removal Project 
(LXRP) 

Council continued to work with the Victorian Government 
through the Level Crossing Removal Project (LXRP) to provide 
policy and strategy reference documents to help guide the 
redevelopment of the Upfield railway corridor. Officers also 
participated in the LXRP’s community engagement sessions on 25 
and 28 May 2019. Council’s advocacy for an additional two level 
crossings at Munro Street and Reynard Street also resulted in the 
Premier formally announcing their inclusion on 12 June 2019. 

The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2018-19 budget, the 
actual cost, and the persons or sections of the community who are provided with the service. 
Service Description   Budgeted 

revenue 
Budgeted 

expenditure 
Total 
$000 

Actual  
revenue 

Actual 
expenditure 

Total 
$000 

Variance 
$000  
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Transport 
Development 

This service aims to provide transport and 
development advice to support a liveable city by 
ensuring that the most convenient, efficient and 
effective transport mode is also the best for the 
environment, community and the economy. 
Specific services include strategic transport 
planning, traffic management and development 
advice. 
 

(306) 

3,566 

3,259 

 

(554) 
3,860 
3,306 

(47) 
 
 

Road Construction and 
Maintenance 
 

This service aims to create a more liveable city by 
providing a range of services to maintain and 
improve the safety and integrity of the city’s road 
network. Specific services include road 
maintenance and renewal, asset stewardship and 
road infrastructure. 

(1,554) 

5,443 

3,888 

 

(1,537) 
5,392 
3,855 

33 
 
 

Key Priority: 

3. Support the local economy and trading environments to enhance economic activity and promote local jobs. 

Strategic Indicator 2018-19 result Comments  

New employment opportunities 
created 

100% of actions 
achieved 

 

Supported the establishment and expansion of local 
businesses to encourage employment growth. 
Investment projects by sector that were supported: 

• Food and beverage - 25 

• Retail - 10 

• Creative - 9 

• Health - 3 

A highlight of the employment potential of one of 
our key investment partners is aged care provider 
Ryman who (once operational in 2020-21) expects to 
create more than 50 new local jobs. 

 Major initiatives   Progress 
Major Economic Development initiatives: 

 
 

• Business Approvals Moreland (BAM) – The Council-wide 
business approval process has been reviewed and improved 
to reduce costs and time delays to businesses. A new online 
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tool has been developed to ensure the process is 
streamlined. 

• Converger Moreland – A program of workshops, 
masterclasses and meetups aimed at creating an 
entrepreneurial mindset and supporting the growth of 
business ideas commenced in October 2018. These events 
had been attended by 512 entrepreneurs by 30 June 2019. 

• Moreland Shopping Strip Renewal Program – This program 
aims to enhance shopping strips and improving business 
performance and the customer experience. The program 
focussed on the Holmes/Nicholson strip in 2018-19. Shop 
fronts were upgraded, mural work completed and a program 
of activation activities completed. This program is timed to 
complement the urban design scheduled upgrades. 

• Brunswick Design District – Council, Creative Vic and RMIT 
signed a memorandum of understanding to develop 
Brunswick as a designated creative design district to create 
opportunities for creative and design entrepreneurs and 
enterprises. 

 

The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2018 – 19 budget, the actual cost, 
and the persons or sections of the community who are provided with the service. 

Service Description   Budgeted 
revenue 

Budgeted 
expenditure 

Total 
$000 

 

Actual  
revenue 

Actual 
expenditure 

Total 
$000 

Variance 
$000  

Places / Economic 
Development 

This service includes 'The Coburg Initiative'. It 
provides leadership and direction in the 
development and delivery of Council’s place 
management, major projects facilitation and 
economic development programs and services. 
 

(487) 

3,445 

2,958 

 

(691) 
3,298  
2,607   

351 
 
 

Key Priority: 
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4. Increase tree canopy cover, enhance existing open space and create at least two new parks in areas with the 
lowest access to open space. 

Strategic Indicator 2018-19 result Comments  

Create at least two new parks in 
areas with the least access to open 
space and experiencing the greatest 
development pressures. 

100% of actions 
achieved 

 

i) Council acquired two sites towards the conversion 
of two new parks in Moreland, both in Brunswick. 
Council also acquired a further two sites in 
Brunswick to further reduce the high-need gap area. 
 
ii) Increased canopy cover, to be progressed through 
the annual planting of 5000 trees. In addition, the 
Cooling the Upfield Corridor Action Plan was 
adopted by Council on 10 October 2018. 

 Major initiatives                       Progress 
A Park Close to Home achievements The A Park Close to Home initiative outlines a long-term plan to 

ensure that everyone living in the City of Moreland is within 

500m walking distance of a park or open space, and within 300m 

for those living in the city’s busiest, high-density areas. The first 

of the two new parks will be located at 55-61 Tinning Street, 

Brunswick, an area of 2000sq m. The second park will be created 

at what is currently 1, 3, 5, 7 and 11 West Street and 29 and 31 

Breese Street, Brunswick, an area of 2600sq m. The purchase of 

the property and land for these parks was made possible through 

Council’s Open Space Contribution Fund and cost $18.9 million. 

Council has launched a new online tree finder tool to 
guide developers, architects and residents. 

 

The list of recommended species was developed from Council’s 
street tree strategies, plans and the expertise of qualified Council 
staff. The idea is that the right tree will suit the space, live longer 
and grow, and provide more cover and shade to increase tree 
canopy. Each tree in the tree finder tool is also given a star rating, 
which is based on the tree's environmental value, ecological 
benefits, pest and disease susceptibility, climate change 
adaptability, life expectancy and amenity value. The additional 
benefit of these innovative tools is to help mitigate the 
challenges of the urban heat island effect, in addition 
encouraging more greenery in the municipality. 
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The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2018-19 budget, the actual cost, 
and the persons or sections of the community who are provided with the service. 

Service Description   Budgeted 
revenue 

Budgeted 
expenditure 

Total 
$000 

 

Actual  
revenue 

Actual 
expenditure 

Total 
$000 

Variance 
$000  

Open Space 
Design and 
Development 

This service partners with the community, to conserve, 
plan, design and develop relevant quality public open 
space which includes parks, reserves, playgrounds, 
sports fields, creek corridors, streetscapes and civic and 
urban spaces. The core service responsibilities of this 
service unit are strategic planning and policy 
development, bushland conservation and development 
and capital works planning, design and delivery. 

0 

1,727 

1,727 

 

(38) 
2,072 
2,034 

(307) 
 
 

Open Space 
Maintenance 

This service maintains parks, reserves and sports fields, 
open space assets such as playgrounds, 
sporting infrastructure and park furniture, streetscapes 
such as street trees, roadside garden beds and 
street/footpath/laneway weeds, and grounds in 
community centres, child care centres and 
kindergartens. 

(67) 

11,014 

10,947 

 

(435) 
11,759 
11,324 

(377) 
 
 

Key Priority: 

4. Move to a proactive approach to managing construction impacts resulting from population growth in 
our city. 

Strategic Indicator 2018-19 result Comments  

Reduction in complaints relating to 
construction sites. 

70% of implementation 
activities achieved 

The initial construction management project 
investigation and analysis has led to stronger 
enforcement of construction site breaches, with a 
substantial increase in fines being issued.  While 
complaints remain on par with previous years, it is 
expected that the additional enforcement activity 
and other regulatory requirements soon to come on 
line will lead to a reduction of 
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complaints.   Finalisation of a full construction 
management plan framework, including process 
ownership, roles and responsibilities, and the 
development of end-to-end processes, will be 
completed in the 2019-20 financial year.  This will 
include the requirement of all builders to submit a 
construction management plan for all dwelling sizes.  

The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2018-19 budget, the actual cost, 
and the persons or sections of the community who are provided with the service. 

Service Description Budgeted 
revenue 

Budgeted 
expenditure 

Total 
$000 

 

Actual  
revenue 

Actual 
expenditure 

Total 
$000 

Variance 
$000  

Building and Capital 
Works 
 
 

This service implements Council’s capital works 
program for buildings and structures and provides 
planning and advice for project proposals. 

0 

1,079 

1,079 

 

0 
996 
996 

83 
 
 
 

Key Priority: 

6.     Develop a clear and funded approach to achieve zero carbon emissions by 2040. 

Strategic Indicator 2018-19 result Comments  

To set and implement a clear vision 
and strategy for zero carbon 
emissions by 2040. 100% of actions 

achieved 

 

The ZCE Refresh to 2020 and the Zero Carbon 
Moreland 2040 Framework were adopted by Council 
with amendments to include acknowledgement of 
the climate emergency. The supporting Zero Carbon 
Moreland - Action Plan 2020-21 to 2024-25 is under 
development and will be finalised post-community 
consultation.  

 Major initiatives                       Progress 

Crowlands Wind Farm underwritten by 
the Melbourne Renewable Energy Project took out a 
top sustainability honour. 

The joint project between Moreland, Melbourne, Port Phillip and 
Yarra councils, a group of universities and corporations won the 
Government category of the Premier's Sustainability Awards. The 
project was recognised for being the first time in Australia that a 
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group of local governments, cultural institutions, universities and 
corporations have collectively purchased renewable energy 
through a power purchase agreement. Council staff accepted the 
award at a celebration on 11 October 2019. The Crowlands Wind 
Farm has been operational since January 2019, with Council 
committed to purchasing 100% of the electricity for corporate 
operations through the MREP agreement.  

Zero Carbon Evolution – annual achievements At the end of the financial year, the Zero Carbon Evolution 
implementation project was somewhat behind (annual) targets 
related to business solar (kW installed) and residential energy 
efficiency (lifetime tonnes carbon-dioxide-equivalent saved). 
However, some 730kW total rooftop solar was installed across 
Moreland homes and businesses via Positive Charge (the 
Moreland Energy Foundation) during 2018-19. Unmet targets will 
be carried forward for delivery during 2019-20. 

The Solar on Leased Facilities program installed 73.6kW solar PV 
capacity during 2018-19, with a total of 216kW installed on 
leased facilities since program inception. Solar on leased 
installations in 2018-19 include West Coburg Bowling Club 
(20kW), Fawkner Bowling Club (18kW), Lake Park Kindergarten 
(5.5kW), Dawson Street Child Care Centre (14.5kW) and the 
Denzil Don Kindergarten (9kW). A total of 794kW of rooftop solar 
capacity is now installed across Council facilities. 

Council to trial hydrogen fuel cell vehicles 
 

Council partnered with Toyota Australia to begin a two-month 
trial of two hydrogen fuel cell powered Mirais as part of its 
ongoing investigation of options to adopt zero-emissions within 
its commercial vehicle fleet. 

Council hopes the trial will strengthen support and stimulate 
collaboration opportunities to develop renewable hydrogen 
generation facilities and hydrogen fuel cell technologies over 
time as heavy vehicles become available. 

Council is a strong supporter of zero emissions vehicle 
technologies and has played a leading role supporting the 
transition to zero emissions vehicles over the past six years.  
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The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2018-19 budget, the 
actual cost, and the persons or sections of the community who are provided with the service. 
Service Description   Budgeted 

revenue 
Budgeted 

expenditure 
Total 
$000 

 

Actual  
revenue 

Actual 
expenditure 

Total 
$000 

Variance 
$000  

Environmental 
Sustainable 
Development 

This service is responsible for developing, 
implementing, monitoring reporting on strategies, 
policies, programs and partnerships relating to 
Moreland’s environmental sustainability, relating to 
climate change, sustainable management of waste and 
water and promoting a sustainable built environment. 

0 
2,372 
2,372 

(90) 
2,380 
2,289 

83 

Engineering 
Services 

This service develops and coordinates the detailed 
planning, design, tendering and construction of 
Council’s road and drainage asset programs, and 
manages Council’s drainage network. 

(192) 
1,125 

933 

(174) 
1,019 

845 

88 
 
 

City Strategy and 
Design 

This service is previously mentioned (Key Priority 1 of 
Strategic Objective 2: Progressive City). 

Not 
applicable 

Not 
applicable 

Not 
applicable 

Key Priority: 

7.     Invest in the revitalisation of shopping and trading precincts. 

Strategic Indicator 2018-19 result Comments  

Investment in shopping and trading 
precincts 

100% of actions 
achieved 

 

Implementation of the Shopping Strip Renewal 
Program as per Council’s adopted program is in 
progress. In 2018-19 the program achieved the 
construction of Holmes Nicholson Moreland 
Neighbourhood Activity Centre streetscape upgrade, 
concept design of Gaffney Village Shopping Strip and 
design of Bonwick Street Shopping Strip. 

 Major initiatives                       Progress 
Shopping Strip Renewal Program 
 

In 2018-19 we completed the construction of Holmes Nicholson 
Moreland Neighbourhood Activity Centre streetscape upgrade 
and have undertaken the preliminary work to progress the 
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construction of two further shopping strips. This includes the 
completion of the concept design of Gaffney Village Shopping 
Strip, which was informed by community feedback and 
completed in June 2019. The design for the Bonwick Street 
Shopping Strip was completed in early 2019, with construction 
commencing in June 2019. 

The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2018-19 budget, the actual cost, 
and the persons or sections of the community who are provided with the service. 

Service Description   Budgeted 
revenue 

Budgeted 
expenditure 

Total 
$000 

 

Actual  
revenue 

Actual 
expenditure 

Total 
$000 

Variance 
$000  

City Strategy and 
Design 

This service is previously mentioned (Key Priority 1 of 
Strategic Objective 2: Progressive City). 

Not 
applicable 

Not 
applicable 

Not 
applicable 

Places / Economic 
Development 

This service is previously mentioned (Key Priority 3 of 
Progressive City). 

Not 
applicable 

Not 
applicable 

Not 
applicable 

Service Performance Indicators  

Results  

Service indicator/measure  2016 2017 2018 2019 Comments   

See:  Statutory Planning Key 
Priority 1 under Progressive City 

   
  

Key Priority: 

8. Strengthen and invest in the significant creative sector in Moreland and enhance its standing as a destination 
for the arts. 

Strategic Indicator 2018-19 result Comments  

To strengthen the significant 
creative sector in Moreland and 
enhance its standing as a destination 
for the arts. 

94% satisfaction 
achieved 

Result from the 2019 Customer Satisfaction Survey 
relating to satisfaction with Council providing arts 
and culture opportunities. In line with previous year 
results. 

 Major initiatives                       Progress 
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Investing in quality art: second round of Arts 
Investment Grants 

The purpose of the grants is to support independent arts 
professionals or small-to-medium arts organisations based in 
Moreland. Round 2: allocation of $50,000 in investment in 2018-
2019 has occurred with a sample of the beneficiaries being: 
- Palmdale Studios: Launching a screen-printing studio in 

Moreland to provide artists and local community access to 
specialised and cost-effective facilities, equipment and 
expertise.  

- Alterfact: Purchase of a portable clay 3D printer for 
workshops with high school children and professional 
development opportunities with adults.  

- Pink Ember Studios: Volunteer not-for-profit gallery and 
facilities, responding to demands for more accessible and 
affordable spaces for creative development. 

Arts infrastructure plan – cost-neutral initiatives Two cost-neutral initiatives supporting the arts infrastructure 
plan were implemented: 
1) Point of contact established to assist local artists with 

planning queries to establish or enhance arts spaces.  
2) Brunswick Design District Partnership established, in 

collaboration with Council officers from other units, between 
State Government of Victoria (Creative Victoria), RMIT 
University and Moreland Council.  

Brunswick Music Festival a big success 
 

Brunswick Music Festival 2019 has deepened our relationship 
with the local music industry and the Brunswick community. The 
program reflected the people, places and tastes that makes 
Brunswick the live music hub of Melbourne and all of it was run 
and directly funded by Moreland City Council.  

The re-imagined and re-branded Brunswick Music Festival 2019 
was a huge success. Staged over a two-week period in March, the 
overall attendance of the festival increased by 152 per cent and 
the overall box office increased by more than 200 per cent. 

A significant number of new local businesses and community 
groups came on board as new partners in 2019 and the event has 
promoted Brunswick as a creative hotspot and music hub to a 
whole new audience.   
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The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2018-19 budget, the actual cost, 
and the persons or sections of the community who are provided with the service. 

Service Description   Budgeted 
revenue 

Budgeted 
expenditure 

Total 
$000 

 

Actual  
revenue 

Actual 
expenditure 

Total 
$000 

Variance 
$000  

Arts and Culture This service is responsible for enhancing opportunities for 
artistic and cultural experiences by delivering, partnering 
or facilitating festivals and events, exhibitions and public 
art initiatives. 

(143) 
2,199 
2,056 

(404) 
2,627 
2,223 

(167) 

Key Priority: 

9.     Enhance the environmental outcomes of Council waste services and increase the communities’ 
awareness/participation in environmental initiatives to reduce waste to landfill. 

Strategic Indicator 2018-19 result Comments  

Reduce waste to landfill 
44% diversion to landfill 

achieved 

Diversion of waste to landfill in line with previous 
years, but also trending down which is reflective of 
policy changes. 

 Major initiatives                       Progress 
Council adopted the Waste and Litter Strategy 2018-
22 in December 2018. 

This strategy aims to minimise waste to landfill and increase 
resource recovery, going beyond metropolitan and state 
averages. The strategy outlines holistic initiatives to reduce the 
generation of waste, maximise re-use and repair, reduce and 
recycle food waste, and eliminate reliance on single-use plastics 
at Council events and facilities. The strategy also includes 
innovative projects and trials to address challenges such as 
dumped rubbish, litter and contamination of recycling bins. 
Through Council’s own actions and strong advocacy, the strategy 
will help drive systemic changes that foster sustainable 
consumption by our community and the transition to a vibrant 
circular economy.  

Trial of food organics in the green waste bin. 
 

Almost 1500 households took part in Council’s food-in-garden-
waste-bin trial. The four-month trial saw houses in a small section 
of Pascoe Vale and Pascoe Vale South encouraged to dispose of 
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food waste through their garden waste bin. Scaling up the food 
and garden organics kerbside service is a key priority of Council’s 
Waste and Litter Strategy 2018-2022 and the Zero Carbon 2040 
Framework. 

The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2018-19 budget, the actual cost, 
and the persons or sections of the community who are provided with the service. 

Service Description   Budgeted 
revenue 

Budgeted 
expenditure 

Total 
$000 

 

Actual  
revenue 

Actual 
expenditure 

Total 
$000 

Variance 
$000  

Street Cleansing This service aims to maintain and enhance the 
quality of life for people who live and work in, and 
travel through Moreland, by improving the 
cleanliness and presentation of public spaces. This 
includes graffiti removal, pit and drain cleaning, 
street sweeping, street and park litter-bin 
collection. 

(102) 
4,348 
4,246 

(88) 
4,302 

      4,214  
 
                  
 

32 

Waste Services The waste collection service provides weekly 
domestic garbage and recycling collection, 
fortnightly green waste collection, and yearly 
kerbside hard waste collection. 

(167) 
13,560 
13,393 

(431) 
13,507 
13,076 

318 
 
 

Service Performance Indicators  

Results  

Service Indicator/measure  2016 2017 2018 2019 Comments 

Waste Collection 
Satisfaction 
Kerbside bin collection 
requests 
 
 
[Number of kerbside garbage 
and recycling bin collection 
requests / Number of kerbside 

314.10 239.51 263.91 237.11 
  
 

Council has continued to 
focus on reducing the 
number of replacement 
and damaged bins 
through improved 
awareness, bin placement 
and bin configuration. 
Missed collections and 
complaints are also 
included in this 
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bin collection households] x 
1000 

calculation and continues 
to be an area of focus. 

Service standard 
Kerbside collection bins missed 
 
[Number of kerbside garbage 
and recycling collection bins 
missed / Number of scheduled 
kerbside garbage and recycling 
collection bin lifts] x 10,000 

 
14.00 

 
13.29 

 
12.96 

 
10.78 

 

Council has continued to 
focus on improving 
missed collections at 
problematic sites through 
improved awareness, bin 
placement and bin 
configuration at high 
density sites. 

Service cost 
Cost of kerbside garbage bin 
collection service 
 
[Direct cost of the kerbside 
garbage bin collection service / 
Number of kerbside garbage 
collection bins] 
 
 

$100.41 $96.68 $90.69 $92.30 
 

Overall garbage tonnages 
have continued to reduce 
over the past four years, 
despite an increasing 
number of households 
being serviced. The cost 
of processing garbage 
increased by 3 per cent 
during 2018-19 which has 
resulted in an overall 
increase in the cost of 
providing the service. 
Moreland's waste 
minimisation strategy, 
which encourages the use 
of the 80-litre capacity 
bins, has contributed to a 
continued reduction in 
garbage tonnages. 

Service cost 
Cost of kerbside recyclables 
collection service 

$41.49 $31.59 $38.40 $62.22 
 

Overall recycle 
(comingled and green) 
tonnages have reduced 
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[Direct cost of the kerbside 
recyclables bin collection 
service / Number of kerbside 
recyclables collection bins] 

despite the number of 
properties increasing. The 
increased cost is a result 
of significant increases in 
processing costs. 

Waste diversion 
Kerbside collection waste 
diverted from landfill 
 
[Weight of recyclables and 
green organics collected from 
kerbside bins / Weight of 
garbage, recyclables and green 
organics collected from 
kerbside bins] x 100 

45.12% 46.49% 44.18% 43.65% The percentage of waste 
diverted has remained 
consistent. The overall 
tonnages for all waste 
streams are lower despite 
an increase in the 
number of properties 
being serviced. This is 
reflective of Council's 
strategy to reduce and 
reuse.  
 

 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 3: Responsible City 

Key Priority: 

1. Improve resident satisfaction to 90% with Council’s performance in customer service. 

Strategic Indicator 2018-19 result Comments  

Improved resident satisfaction with 
Council’s performance in customer 
service 

81% satisfaction 
achieved 

81% of respondents to the Customer Satisfaction 
Survey 2019 were satisfied with Council’s 
performance in customer service. This result is a 
decrease of 7 percentile points from the prior year, 
which equates to a 8% decrease. 

 Major initiatives                       Progress 
Changes to Council’s online customer request system 
 
 
 

Changes to the customer request system have been made to 
provide greater context around an issue the community is 
reporting on or seeking information about. The changes also 
make it easier for the community to submit requests and should 
reduce the number of customer requests that require follow-up 
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and reworking. An internal working group of IT, communications, 
customer service and local laws staff worked together to develop 
the improvements. These enhancements are part of a larger 
strategy to improve the online experience for our customers.  

The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2018-19 budget, the 
actual cost, and the persons or sections of the community who are provided with the service. 
Service Description   Budgeted 

revenue 
Budgeted 

expenditure 
Total 
$000 

 

Actual  
revenue 

Actual 
expenditure 

Total 
$000 

Variance 
$000  

Customer 
Service 

This service is the primary public contact point for 
the organisation and is delivered through three 
customer service centres, the telephone contact 
centre and multimedia channels. 

0 

2,309 

2,309 

 

0 
2,686 

          2,686  

   

(377) 

 
 
 

Key Priority: 

2. Reach the top 25% of all councils for improved community satisfaction with Council’s engagement practices. 

Strategic Indicator 2018-19 result Comments  

Improved community satisfaction 
with Council’s engagement 
practices. 74% satisfaction 

achieved 

According to the Customer Satisfaction Survey 2019, 
74% of respondents were satisfied with Council’s 
performance in the area of community consultation 
and engagement. This is a decrease of 8 percentile 
points on the prior year result, which equates to a 
10% decrease. 

 Major initiatives                       Progress 
Many ways to communicate with Council Council has embraced technology and different ways to 

communicate with the community. Council has been live-
streaming meetings to the public since April 2015. On average, a 
Council meeting live stream will reach approximately 4000 
people, and planning meetings approximately 3000 people.  
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Council does not use paid advertising when live-streaming 
Council meetings, so this is purely organic reach. Reach is the 
number of people who had the content enter their screens, for 
example, through the Facebook Newsfeed. 

Council is also using social media to reach out to the community. 
Our Facebook page gets some very high engagement rates, with 
the highest post rating at 22% engagement rate (compared to a 
0.27% industry average). 

Community Engagement Policy and framework A new framework for community engagement is being trialled as 
Council continues to implement the Community Engagement and 
Public Participation Policy. The policy was adopted at the Council 
meeting in December, with agreement given to annual updates. 
The framework and policy will be implemented through the 
following key areas over the coming 12 months: 

• changing the way Council engages with community, 
• supporting community engagement on Council priorities 

during 2019-20, and 
• updating our tools to engage with Moreland’s diverse 

community.  

The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2018-19 budget, the actual cost, 
and the persons or sections of the community who are provided with the service. 

Service Description   Budgeted 
 revenue 

Budgeted 
expenditure 

Total 
$000 

 

Actual  
revenue 

Actual  
expenditure 

Total 
$000 

Variance 
$000  

Community 
Engagement 

This service enables Council to ensure 
that it is able to obtain community 
feedback on its project proposals 
before they are implemented. It 
allows Council to make the right 
decisions that best reflect the views of 
the community. 

0 
64 
64 

0 
110 
110 

(46) 
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Key Priority: 

3. Maintain and match our infrastructure to community needs and population growth. 

Strategic Indicator 2018-19 result Comments  

Meeting our asset renewal rate. 2018-19 forecast = 151% 
2018-19 actual = 131% achieved 
 

 

The variance is predominantly related to the 
Oak Park precinct project being partly 
reclassified as expansion and new in nature 
while some road and recreation projects 
were delayed. 

 Major initiatives                       Progress 
Wheatsheaf Community Hub  The Wheatsheaf Community Hub will become the new home of 

the Glenroy Library, the Glenroy Memorial Kindergarten and 

include maternal child health, a community health provider, 

neighbourhood learning and childcare services.  

At the 12 December 2018 Council meeting, Council approved a 

contract to undertake the full design of the Wheatsheaf hub 

project noting the revised project budget of $26,425,000. As part 

of the project, the adjoining Bridget Shortell Reserve is to be 

redeveloped with fresh open green spaces for play and active 

recreation and with new public amenities. Community 

consultation concluded 13 May 2019. 

33 Saxon Street, Brunswick - public open space 
development 

In December 2018, Council endorsed the Saxon Street Multi-Use 
Facility concept design Option C – major works, for further 
planning and development. Throughout August and September 
2018, the community was consulted on three options 
to identify the preferred design concept, which confirmed 
overwhelming support for Option C. A range of temporary 
activation activities has occurred on-site since 2016 for 
community and creative uses, known as ‘Siteworks’, with the 
current activation period of Siteworks growing from strength to 
strength. 
 

The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2018-19 budget, the actual cost, 
and the persons or sections of the community who are provided with the service. 
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Service Description   Budgeted 
revenue 

Budgeted 
expenditure 

Total 
$000 

 

Actual  
revenue 

Actual 
expenditure 

Total 
$000 

Variance 
$000  

Asset 
Management 

This service aims to provide sound stewardship 
of Council’s $1 billion asset base, undertaken 
through the development and implementation 
of asset management policies, strategies and 
plans and the provision of high quality asset 
management data to support informed 
decision-making. 

0 

762 

762 

 

0 
821 

             821  

 

(59) 

Building 
Maintenance 

This service maintains Council buildings to 
appropriate standards. 

0 
3,426 
3,426 

(24) 
3,818 
3,794 

(368) 

Fleet Services This service provides a fleet management and 
maintenance service for more than 600 items of 
plant and equipment.   

(149) 
3,674 
3,525 

(78) 
3,459 
3,381 

144 

Property 
Services  

This service undertakes the management of 
Council-owned properties  

(1,915) 
1,309 
(607) 

(1,428) 
1,061 
(367)  

 

(240) 

Civic Facilities  This service co-ordinates the provision of 
meeting rooms and town hall bookings 
including facility management, catering and 
security. 

(168) 
3,903 
3,735 

(225) 
3,789 
3,564 

171 

Service Performance Indicators  

Results  

Service indicator / measure  2016 2017 2018 2019 Comments  

Roads 
Satisfaction of use 
Sealed local road requests 
 

102.04% 113.01% 114.77% 100.85 
 

The average number of 
requests over the 
previous four years is 
107. The difference 
between 107 and this 
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[Number of sealed local road 
requests / Kilometres of sealed 
local roads] x 100 

year's figure of 101 may 
indicate the beginning of 
improvement in this area, 
as Council has increased 
renewal expenditure on 
road infrastructure to 
meet community 
expectations. 

Condition 
Sealed local roads maintained 
to condition standards 
 
[Number of kilometres of 
sealed local roads below the 
renewal intervention level set 
by Council / Kilometres of 
sealed local roads] x 100 

 
94.16% 

 
94.34% 

 
94.69% 

 
94.66% 

 

This indicator has been 
improving incrementally 
over recent years, 
indicating that Council 
continues to invest in 
improving the overall 
condition of Moreland’s 
local roads. 

Service cost 
Cost of sealed local road 
reconstruction 
 
[Direct cost of sealed local 
road reconstruction / Square 
metres of sealed local roads 
reconstructed] 

$196.03 $213.49 $207.80 $267.97 
 

The increased cost from 
the average of $204 over 
the past four years is 
believed to be attributed 
to an increased demand 
for contracting resources 
state-wide, caused by the 
large infrastructure 
projects funded by the 
State Government. 

Service Cost 
Cost of sealed local road 
resealing 
 
[Direct cost of sealed local 
road resealing / Square metres 
of sealed local roads resealed] 

$17.21 $19.24 $15.79 $17.17 
 

This cost is in line with 
the average cost over the 
previous four years 
($18.42) and reflects the 
size of the contract ($1 
million) which continues 
to attract very 
competitive rates, despite 
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the state-wide 

construction boom. 

Satisfaction 
Satisfaction with sealed local 
roads 
 
[Community satisfaction rating 
out of 100 with how Council 
has performed on the 
condition of sealed local roads] 

56 56 62 57 Community satisfaction 
has remained constant. 
The average rating over 
the previous 4 years is 58. 
Whilst the number of 
'sealed local roads 
requests' may have 
peaked, any 
improvement in 
community satisfaction is 
only likely to occur in the 
longer term. 

Key Priority:   

4. Provide transparent and effective governance of Council’s operations. 

Strategic Indicator 2018-19 result Comments  

Improved satisfaction with decisions 
made in the interest of the 
community. 73% satisfaction 

achieved 

According to the Customer Satisfaction Survey 2019, 
73% of respondents were satisfied with Council’s 
performance for decisions made in the interest of 
the community. This is a decrease of 9 percentile 
points on the prior year result, which equates to a 
11% decrease. 

 Major initiatives                       Progress 
Review of the Local Government Act Council attended a ministerial briefing on the key reforms and 

proposed Local Government Bill 2019 on 17 June. An overview of 
the reform themes, key changes and key considerations for 
Moreland was circulated to Councillors and the Moreland 
Executive Group on 27 June. Further insights and implications for 
Council are being refined in the development of Council’s 
submission to the Minister on the proposed Bill and associated 
reforms. 

Publication of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee Annual Performance Report 2017-18 

Council has introduced increased transparency of our continuous 
improvement activities through the internal audit program, by 
the adoption and publication of an annual report.  This report 
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details the program of work undertaken by the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee and is available on Council’s website.  

The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2018-19 budget, the actual cost, 
and the persons or sections of the community who are provided with the service. 

Service Description   Budgeted 
revenue 

Budgeted 
expenditure 

Total 
$000 

 

Actual  
revenue 

Actual  
expenditure 

Total 
$000 

Variance 
$000  

Governance This service undertakes the coordination and 
delivery of a range of governance, statutory and 
legal functions for Council, Councillors and the 
community. It also oversees the integrated 
strategic planning and performance reporting 
framework, risk management and internal 
control processes.  
 

(39) 
3,112 
3,073 

(114) 
          3,866 
          3,752   

 

(680) 
 
 
 

Service Performance Indicators  

Results  

Service indicator / measure  2016 2017 2018 2019 Comments  

Governance 
Transparency 
Council decisions made at 
meetings closed to the public 
 
[Number of Council resolutions 
made at ordinary or special 
meetings of Council, or at 
meetings of a special 
committee consisting only of 
Councillors, closed to the 
public / Number of Council 
resolutions made at ordinary 

8.21% 4.69% 5.04% 8.85% 
 

Significant contractual 
and development 
decisions were made by 
Council in 2018-19 to 
deliver on key strategies 
including A Park Close to 
Home. The nature of 
these decisions –
regarding the purchase 
of land in particular –
required decisions to be 
made in meetings 
closed to the public. 
Council remains 
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or special meetings of Council 
or at meetings of a special 
committee consisting only of 
Councillors] x 100. 

committed to 
transparent decision-
making and where 
possible only 
attachments were made 
confidential, rather than 
the decision-making 
process. 

Consultation and engagement 
Satisfaction with community 
consultation and engagement 
 
[Community satisfaction rating 
out of 100 with how Council 
has performed on community 
consultation and engagement] 

57 53 60 53 

 
Council adopted a new 
Community 
Engagement and 
Participation Policy in 
December 2018. 
Resourcing to 
implement the policy 
recommendations 
commenced in July 
2019. 

Attendance  
Councillor attendance at 
council meetings 
 
[The sum of the number of 
Councillors who attended each 
ordinary and special Council 
meeting / (Number of ordinary 
and special Council meetings) 
× (Number of Councillors 
elected at the last Council 
general election)] x100 

88.89% 96.26% 92.56% 93.84% 
 

Our Councillors are 
committed to 
accountable and 
transparent decision-
making which continues 
to be reflected in high 
attendance. 

Service cost 
Cost of governance 
 
[Direct cost of the governance 
service / Number of 

 
$46,238.51 

 
$46,397.91 

 
$48,188.64 

 
$47,205.74 

 

Investment in Councillor 
development has 
continued to ensure 
that they are equipped 
to adequately represent 
the community. 



│ 2018-19 Annual Report, Moreland City Council 
   

 
90 

 

Councillors elected at the last 
Council general election] 

Satisfaction 
Satisfaction with Council 
decisions 
 
[Community satisfaction rating 
out of 100 with how Council 
has performed in making 
decisions in the interest of the 
community] 

55 54 59 54 The result is in line with 
prior years and is a 
continuous 
improvement focus for 
Council. Council 
continues to increase its 
transparency through 
the livestreaming of 
meetings and 
interaction with the 
community on a range 
of platforms. 

Key Priority:  

5. Operate without seeking an exemption from the rate cap through efficient use of Council’s skills and 
financial resources. 

Strategic Indicator 2018-19 result Comments  

Council will not seek a rate 
exemption. 

100% of actions 
achieved 

Council’s 2018-19 budget was adopted without the 
need to seek a rate exemption. 

   Progress of major initiatives in the Council Plan:                      Status 
Budget simulator introduced The simulator allows users to spend more on roads and rubbish, 

parks and playgrounds or other services of their choice, but they 
must make the budget balance. Council has created this online 
tool to find out the community’s priorities for the 2019-20 
budget. 

The budget simulator was launched on Council’s website and 
made available for a four-week period, closing on 24 February. 
Feedback was used to shape the draft budget.  

The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2018-19 budget, the actual cost, 
and the persons or sections of the community who are provided with the service. 

Service  Budgeted 
revenue 

Actual  
revenue 

Variance 
$000  
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Budgeted 
expenditure 

Total 
$000 

 

Actual 
expenditure 

Total 
$000 

Finance and 
Business Systems 
 

This service provides a range of financial services, 
including management of Council’s finances, internal 
and external reporting, payments to suppliers of goods 
and services along with procurement and contracting 
services, and management of the valuation and rating 
of properties within the municipality and the collection 
of debts owed to Council. 

(1,222) 

3,449 

2,227 

 

(648) 
3,797 
3,149 

(922) 

Corporate Finance This service undertakes the management of corporate-
level finances including loan interest repayments. 

(9,427) 
6,323 

(3,104) 

(4,676) 
2,143 

(2,533) 

(571) 

Organisation 
Performance 

This service supports and leads Council’s corporate 
planning, continuous improvement, culture building, 
and organisational performance management.   

0 
871 
871 

0 
1,069 
1,069 

(198) 

Human Resources This service provides a variety of human resource 
management services, including: advice to the 
organisation on human resources and employee 
relations issues; development and implementation of 
workplace agreements; facilitation of recruitment and 
selections, training and development, induction and 
performance management activities; provision of 
employee payroll services; and provision of OHS advice 
and support. 

0 

2,717 

2,717 

 

(112) 
          2,459 
          2,348  

  
 

369 

Communications  This service supports several corporate functions, 
including corporate communications and reputation 
management, community engagement, campaigns and 
external marketing, and internal communications. 

0 

1,141 

1,141 

 

0 
1,309 
1,309 

(168) 

Civic leadership 
and general 
overheads 

Includes corporate costs related to civic leadership. 0 
3,012 
3,012 

0 
3,385 

          3,385  
 

(374) 

Key Priority: 
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6. Enable Council’s workforce to be mobile and accessible, supported by smart and efficient technologies. 

Strategic Indicator 2018-19 result Comments  

Workforce feels more mobile and 
efficient. 

In response to “How 
mobile and efficient do 
you feel at work?’: 
54% answered ‘to a 
great extent’ or ‘to a 
very great extent’ that 
they felt more mobile 
and efficient at work 

 

More than half the surveyed population of Council 
staff reported that they feel more mobile at work.  
To the question: ‘How mobile do you feel at work?’: 
• 54% answered ‘to a great extent’ or ‘to a very 
great extent’ that they felt more mobile at work  
• 27% answered ‘to a moderate extent’.  
 
More than half the surveyed population of Council 
staff reported that they feel more efficient at work.  
To the question: ‘How efficient do you feel at work?’: 
• 54% responded ‘to a great extent’ or ‘to a very 
great extent’  
• 33%  responded ‘to a moderate extent’.  

   Progress of major initiatives in the Council Plan:                      Status 
Information Technology (IT) Strategy: Year two 
actions.   

Some of the annual program of work achievements to support 
the IT strategy were: 

• The rollout of mobile devices to all staff, which has been 
completed. 

• New data analytics solutions, such as Microsoft Power BI for 
analytics has been introduced. 

• Consolidation of cloud migration to support data 
warehousing has been completed. 

• Opportunities for ‘Internet of Things’ has been explored with 
the Smart Cities Project being a major step in the 
establishment of our data collection network. 

The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2018-19 budget, the 
actual cost, and the persons or sections of the community who are provided with the service. 
Service Description   Budgeted 

revenue 
Budgeted 

expenditure 
Total 
$000 

Actual  
revenue 

Actual 
expenditure 

Total 
$000 

Variance 
$000  
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Information 
Technology and 
Records 

This service provides, supports and maintains corporate 
communications and computing systems, facilities and 
infrastructure for Councillors, management, staff and 
users of our public internet services. 

0 

7,213 

7,213 

 

(13) 
          7,023 
          7,010   

 

203 
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Performance statement 

For the year ended 30 June 2019 

Description of municipality  

The City of Moreland is located between 4km and 14km north of central Melbourne and covers the inner and mid-northern suburbs of Brunswick, Brunswick 

East, Brunswick West, Pascoe Vale, Pascoe Vale South, Coburg, Coburg North, Hadfield, Fawkner, Glenroy, Oak Park and Gowanbrae. Small sections of Fitzroy 

North and Tullamarine are also part of Moreland.  

In June 2018, our estimated resident population was 181,725.1 Between 2011 and 2036 it is predicted we will see unprecedented population growth. It is 

anticipated the municipality will grow by 48 per cent – from a population of 154,245 in 2011 to 228,425 in 2036. The majority of this growth will occur by 

2026, and the greatest proportion of growth will occur in Brunswick and Brunswick East.  

Moreland is a highly culturally and linguistically diverse municipality, with residents speaking approximately 140 different languages at home. In 2016, 34 per cent 

of residents were born overseas. Of those residents, 87 per cent were born in non-English-speaking countries and 13 per cent were born in English-speaking 

countries. The main countries of birth of residents, apart from Australia, represent the traditional migrant groups from Europe, including Italy, Greece and the 

United Kingdom, along with India, Pakistan, New Zealand and China. Moreland’s new arrivals now also include the countries of Syria, Nepal, the Philippines and 

Iraq. 

For many years Moreland’s businesses were largely industrial and were the municipality’s largest employers. Now the businesses employing the largest 
numbers of people are those engaged in health care and social assistance with manufacturing falling into fourth place. The second-largest employment 
category is the retail trade while the third-largest is education and training. 

 

1 Australian Bureau of Statistics, Regional Population Growth, Australia (3218.0) 

 

PERFORMANCE STATEMENT Moreland City Council 2018-19 

Sustainable Capacity Indicators 

  

Service/indicator/measure 

Results Results Results Results  

Comments 
2016 2017 2018 2019 

Population 

Expenses per head of municipal 

population 

$1,022.52 $946.90 $1,000.12 $1,065.22 The result achieved has remained consistent. 
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[Total expenses / Municipal 

population] 

 

Infrastructure per head of municipal 

population 

[Value of infrastructure / Municipal 

population] 

$4,003.27 $3,931.99 $3,974.14 $3,934.86 

 

The result achieved has remained consistent. 

 

Population density per length of 

road 

[Municipal population / Kilometres 

of local roads] 

265.98 271.68 281.19 288.91 

 

The increase in 2018-19 (+2.74%) is in line with 
the increases of the previous two years (2.1% 
and 3.5% respectively); this reflects a significant 
population growth trend in a well-established 
inner metropolitan municipality where the 
opportunities for even medium scale 
subdivision is limited. The population growth is 
a result of increased housing opportunities, 
available through numerous 2 lot subdivisions 
of existing lots and the construction of multi-
level accommodation. 

Own-source revenue  

Own-source revenue per head of 

municipal population 

[Own-source revenue / Municipal 

population] 

$927.73 $934.38 $989.11 $983.31 

 

The result achieved has remained consistent. 

 

Recurrent grants  

Recurrent grants per head of 

municipal population 

[Recurrent grants / Municipal 

population] 

$88.94 $127.38 $119.76 $104.36 

 

Recreation recurrent grants were slightly lower 

than in prior years due to the finalisation of two 

grants relating to the Campbell Reserve 

Pavilion. 

Disadvantage  
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Definitions 
 

Infrastructure means non-current property, plant and equipment excluding land. 
 

Local road means a sealed or unsealed road for which Council is the responsible road authority under the Road Management Act 2004. 
 

Non-recurrent grant means a grant obtained on the condition that it be expended in a specified manner and is not expected to be received again during the 
period covered by Council’s strategic resource plan. 
 

Own-source revenue means adjusted underlying revenue other than revenue that is not under the control of Council (including government grants). 
 

Population means the resident population estimated by Council. 
 

Recurrent grant means a grant other than a non-recurrent grant. 
 

Relative socio-economic disadvantage, in relation to a municipality, means the relative socio-economic disadvantage, expressed as a decile for the relevant 
financial year, of the area in which the municipality is located according to the Index of Relative Socio-economic Disadvantage (Catalogue Number 
2033.0.55.001) of SEIFA. 

 

SEIFA means the Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas published from time to time by the Australian Bureau of Statistics on its website. 
 

 
 
 

Relative socio-economic 

disadvantage 

[Index of relative socio-economic 

disadvantage by decile] 

6.00 6.00 7.00 7.00 

 

Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas (SEIFA) is an 

assessment of the welfare of Australian 

communities. The indexes have been created 

by the Australian Bureau of Statistics and are 

informed by five-yearly census data. The index 

ranks areas from most disadvantaged (1) to 

least disadvantaged (10). Moreland's result 

increased from 6 to 7 following the release of 

2016 Census data. 
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Service Performance Indicators 

 

Service/indicator/measure 

Results Results Results Results  

Comments 
2016 2017 2018 2019 

Aquatic facilities 

Utilisation  

Utilisation of aquatic facilities 

[Number of visits to aquatic 

facilities / Municipal population] 

5.49 5.51 5.30 6.18 

 

With an increase in the number of facilities, 

following the reopening of Oak Park Sports and 

Aquatic Centre, a favourable summer season 

and a general increase in membership and 

participation numbers throughout the year, 

aquatic facilities saw an overall increase in 

attendances across the municipality. 

Animal management 

Health and safety  

Animal management prosecutions 

[Number of successful animal 

management prosecutions] 

3.00 2.00 3.00 3.00 

 

Moreland City Council applies resources to 

ensure that animal management matters are 

investigated and where appropriate prosecuted 

in Court. Council has successfully prosecuted all 

cases that have been brought before a 

Magistrate. Numerous other matters have been 

resolved prior to attendance in court. 

Food safety   

Health and safety 

Critical and major non-compliance 

outcome notifications 

[Number of critical non-compliance 

outcome notifications and major 

non-compliance notifications about 

a food premises followed up / 

Number of critical non-compliance 

100.00% 98.70% 97.60% 100.00% 

 

The embedding of the risk-based premises 

assessment program and a focussed effort on 

following up non-compliant premises has 

increased the follow-up rate. 
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outcome notifications and major 

non-compliance notifications about 

a food premises] x 100 

Governance  

Satisfaction  

Satisfaction with Council decisions 

[Community satisfaction rating out 

of 100 with how Council has 

performed in making decisions in 

the interest of the community] 

55.00 54.00 59.00 54.00 

 

The result is in line with prior years and is a 

continuous improvement focus for Council. 

Council continues to increase its transparency 

through the livestreaming of meetings and 

interaction with the community on a range of 

platforms.  

 

Home and Community Care (HACC) 

Participation      

Participation in HACC service 

[Number of people that received a 

HACC service / Municipal target 

population for HACC services] x 100 

17.08% Reporting 

ceased 1 

July 2016 

Reporting 

ceased 1 

July 2016 

Reporting 

ceased 1 

July 2016 

Reporting on HACC ceased on 1 July 2016 due 
to the introduction of the Commonwealth 
Government's NDIS and CHSP programs. 

Participation in HACC service by 

CALD people 

[Number of CALD people who 

receive a HACC service / Municipal 

target population in relation to 

CALD people for HACC services] x 

100  

17.56% Reporting 

ceased 1 

July 2016 

Reporting 

ceased 1 

July 2016 

Reporting 

ceased 1 

July 2016 

Reporting on HACC ceased on 1 July 2016 due 

to the introduction of the Commonwealth 

Government's NDIS and CHSP programs. 

Libraries  
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Participation  

Active library members 

[Number of active library members 

/ Municipal population] x 100 

15.15% 15.63% 14.85% 13.85% 

 

The number of active library members has 

declined by 1%, affected by waiving the 

requirement to register as a library member to 

use the free wi-fi. Wi-fi use has increased 5% 

since the policy change. Additionally, the 

figures still do not include attendance at 

Moreland’s extensive range of events and 

outreach sessions, which continues to be 

strong. Additional community-led programs 

started this year, including events for the 

Nepali, Turkish and Urdu communities, and 

attendance at Libraries After Dark has been 

growing. Meanwhile Council’s online presence 

continues to develop, with increased usage of 

its website (14% growth) and Facebook page 

impressions (up 45%). 

Maternal and Child Health (MCH)  

Participation 

Participation in the MCH service 

[Number of children who attend the 

MCH service at least once (in the 

year) / Number of children enrolled 

in the MCH service] x 100 

68.65% 67.87% 69.61% 71.41% 

 

Council makes contact with 100% of families 

following a birth. In some cases, families opt to 

seek alternative family support services as their 

child grows. Our service assists families to 

connect with other community support services 

and networks. The increase is due to a 

concentrated effort to increase attendance at 

the Key Age and Stage 8-month visit. 

Participation in the MCH service by 

Aboriginal children 

[Number of Aboriginal children who 

attend the MCH service at least 

once (in the year) / Number of 

53.75% 61.90% 65.12% 77.78% 

 

Rates of engagement from Aboriginal and 

Torres Strait Islander families has risen with a 

higher rate of births this year. Some Aboriginal 

families do to choose to access MCH services 

from an Aboriginal Community Controlled 
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Aboriginal children enrolled in the 

MCH service] x 100 

Health Service which is available in a 

neighbouring municipality. 

 

Roads  

Satisfaction  

Satisfaction with sealed local roads 

[Community satisfaction rating out 

of 100 with how Council has 

performed on the condition of 

sealed local roads] 

56.00 56.00 62.00 57.00 

 

Community satisfaction has remained constant. 
The average rating over the previous 4 years is 
58. Whilst the number of 'sealed local roads 
requests' may have peaked, any improvement 

in community satisfaction is only likely to occur 

in the longer term. 

Statutory planning  

Decision-making  

Council planning decisions upheld at 

VCAT 

[Number of VCAT decisions that did 

not set aside Council's decision in 

relation to a planning application / 

Number of VCAT decisions in 

relation to planning applications] x 

100 

57.14% 39.73% 51.09% 47.14% 

 

Marginal change in result in 2018/19 reflects 

the decrease in number of appeals to VCAT 

from 92 in 2017/18 to 70 in 2018/19. 

Waste collection  

Waste diversion  

Kerbside collection waste diverted 

from landfill  

[Weight of recyclables and green 

organics collected from kerbside 

45.12% 46.49% 44.18% 43.65% 

 

The percentage of waste diverted has remained 

consistent. The overall tonnages for all waste 

streams are lower despite an increase in the 

number of properties being serviced. This is 

reflective of Council's strategy to reduce and 

reuse.  
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Definitions 
 

Aboriginal child means a child who is an Aboriginal person. 
 

Aboriginal person has the same meaning as in the Aboriginal Heritage Act 2006. 
 

Active library member means a member of a library who has borrowed a book from the library. 
 

Annual report means an annual report prepared by a council under sections 131, 132 and 133 of the Act. 
 

CALD means culturally and linguistically diverse and refers to persons born outside Australia in a country whose national language is not English. 
 

Class 1 food premises means food premises, within the meaning of the Food Act 1984, that have been declared as class 1 food premises under section 19C 
of that Act. 

 

Class 2 food premises means food premises, within the meaning of the Food Act 1984, that have been declared as class 2 food premises under section 19C 
of that Act. 
 

Community Care Common Standards means the Community Care Common Standards for the delivery of HACC services, published from time to time by the 
Commonwealth. 
 

Critical non-compliance outcome notification means a notification received by Council under section 19N (3) or (4) of the Food Act 1984, or advice given to 
Council by an authorised officer under that Act, of a deficiency that poses an immediate serious threat to public health. 
 

Food premises has the same meaning as in the Food Act 1984. 
 

HACC program means the Home and Community Care program established under the Agreement entered into for the purpose of the Home and Community 
Care Act 1985 of the Commonwealth. 

 

HACC service means home help, personal care or community respite provided under the HACC program. 
 

Local road means a sealed or unsealed road for which Council is the responsible road authority under the Road Management Act 2004. 
 

Major non-compliance outcome notification means a notification received by Council under section 19N (3) or (4) of the Food Act 1984, or advice given to 
Council by an authorised officer under that Act, of a deficiency that does not pose an immediate serious threat to public health but may do so if no remedial 
action is taken. 
 

MCH means the Maternal and Child Health service provided by Council to support the health and development of children within the municipality from 
birth until school age. 

 

bins / Weight of garbage, 

recyclables and green organics 

collected from kerbside bins] x 100 
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Population means the resident population estimated by Council. 
 

Target population has the same meaning as in the Agreement entered into for the purposes of the Home and Community Care Act 1985 of the 
Commonwealth. 
 

WorkSafe reportable aquatic facility safety incident means an incident relating to a council aquatic facility that is required to be notified to the Victorian 
WorkCover Authority under Part 5 of the Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004. 
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Financial Performance Indicators 

  Results Results Results Results Forecasts   

Dimension/indicator/measure 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Comments 

Efficiency 

Revenue level 

Average residential rate per 

residential property assessment 

[Residential rate revenue / Number 

of residential property assessments] 

$1,496.48 $1,566.58 $1,533.94 $1,609.18 $1,651.50 $1,653.98 $1,656.44 $1,658.88 Council removed the 

vacant land 

differential rate in 

2018-19, which 

charged four times 

the general rate with 

a rebate for keeping 

the property to a 

certain standard. The 

change to a 

standardised rate 

across all rating 

categories resulted in 

rates increases as the 

removal of the 

differential rate was 

spread across all 

other categories. 

Expenditure level 

Expenses per property assessment $2,132.60 $2,148.35 $2,242.50 $2,390.96 $2,225.00 $2,183.24 $2,134.43 $2,111.67 Council is continuing 

its program of 
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[Total expenses / Number of 

property assessments] 

finding efficiencies. 

Expenses per 

property assessment 

have increased in 

2018-19 due to 

changes in the 

recycling industry 

and a portion of the 

capital works 

program being 

expensed rather than 

capitalised. 

 

Workforce turnover  

Resignations and terminations 

compared to average staff 

[Number of permanent staff 

resignations and terminations / 

Average number of permanent staff 

for the financial year] x 100 

7.38% 9.61% 8.70% 12.14% 9.48% 9.59% 9.68% 9.69% Council experienced 

a higher level of staff 

turnover in 2018-19 

after a number of 

years of low staff 

turnover. Although a 

significant increase 

over last year's 

result, the 12% 

turnover of staff is 

within the accepted 

range of 10-12% for a 

healthy organisation. 
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Liquidity 

Working capital  

Current assets compared to current 

liabilities 

 

[Current assets / Current liabilities] 

x 100 

242.23% 266.94% 347.78% 213.05% 348.92% 324.94% 341.87% 374.11% Lower than 

anticipated accrued 

expenses in 2017-18 

relative to 2018-19. 

Current liabilities 

increase also partly 

due to $8 million 

bond maturing in 

November 2019. 

 

Unrestricted cash 

Unrestricted cash compared to 

current liabilities 

 

[Unrestricted cash / Current 

liabilities] x 100 

97.74% 9.02% -17.08% 112.36% 228.36% 194.75% 202.36% 223.29% Term deposits less 
than 90 days have 
been included in 
unrestricted cash 
for this ratio 
calculation in 2018-
19. In prior years, a 
greater proportion of 
cash was invested in 
Term Deposits over 
90 days. Council is 
building its cash 
reserves in future 
years to part repay 
the Local 
Government 
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Funding Vehicle 
Bonds on maturity 
(interest only) and to 
deliver strategic 
capital projects in 
future years such as 
Wheatsheaf Hub and 
the Fawkner Reserve 
Leisure Centre 
refurbishment. 

Obligations 

Asset renewal  

Asset renewal compared to 

depreciation 

[Asset renewal expense / Asset 

depreciation] x 100 

 

66.33% 52.39% 81.11% 118.69% 105.76% 124.10% 117.05% 116.93% Significant increase 

in asset renewal 

relative to 2017-18 

($30 million up from 

$19 million). Includes 

expenditure on road 

assets of $4.56 

million, $6.7 million 

on footpaths and 

open space assets, 

$15.5 million on 

buildings and $1.7 

million on plant and 

equipment (i.e. fleet 

replacement costs). 
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Loans and borrowings  

Loans and borrowings compared to 

rates  

 

[Interest bearing loans and 

borrowings / Rate revenue] x 100 

37.48% 34.28% 25.81% 23.39% 22.41% 21.10% 19.94% 18.93% Loans have remained 

steady, repayments 

were as expected 

and no new loans 

were applied for. 

Loans and borrowings repayments 

compared to rates 

[Interest and principal repayments 

on interest-bearing loans and 

borrowings / Rate revenue] x 100 

11.12% 2.68% 9.22% 1.65% 1.58% 1.47% 1.37% 1.29% In 2017-18 Council 

finalised an 

outstanding loan of 

$5.9 million that 

matured and also 

decided to finalise a 

$3.3 million loan 

based on a 

cost/benefit analysis. 

Repayments were as 

expected and no 

loans were paid out 

early. 

Indebtedness  

Non-current liabilities compared to 

own source revenue 

[Non-current liabilities / Own 

source revenue] x 100 

33.26% 25.69% 21.25% 15.66% 19.55% 18.52% 17.60% 16.78% Non-current 

liabilities decreased 

due to a $8 million 

bond maturing in 

November 2019 now 

classified as a current 

liability. 
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Operating position 

Adjusted underlying result 

Adjusted underlying surplus (or 

deficit) 

[Adjusted underlying surplus 

(deficit)/ Adjusted underlying 

revenue] x 100 

8.30% 17.78% 17.61% 9.31% 13.80% 15.66% 17.52% 18.20% Surplus has 

decreased between 

years due to fewer 

non-monetary 

contributions, 

decrease in value of 

investment 

properties and 

significant increase in 

materials and 

services costs. 

Stability 

Rates concentration  

Rates compared to adjusted 

underlying revenue 

[Rate revenue / Adjusted underlying 

revenue] x 100 

73.82% 70.11% 65.79% 70.75% 73.76% 74.12% 74.41% 74.56% Council's rate 
revenue has 
increased in 2018-19 
due to the removal 
of the differential 
rate on vacant land 
and associated 
rebate coupled with 
the increase in the 
waste charge due to 
the recycling industry 
issues. 
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There was also a 

decrease in cash 

contributions from 

2017-18. 

Rates effort  

Rates compared to property values 

[Rate revenue / Capital improved 

value of rateable properties in the 

municipality] x 100 

0.31% 0.28% 0.28% 0.24% 0.27% 0.26% 0.26% 0.25% After the 

introduction of rate 

capping, rates 

income has remained 

steady. 

 
 

Definitions 
 

Adjusted underlying revenue means total income other than:  
a)    non-recurrent grants used to fund capital expenditure  
b)   non-monetary asset contributions, and  
c)    contributions to fund capital expenditure from sources other than those referred to in paragraphs (a) and (b). 

 

Adjusted underlying surplus (or deficit) means adjusted underlying revenue less total expenditure.  
 

Asset renewal expenditure means expenditure on an existing asset or on replacing an existing asset that returns the service capability of the asset to its original 
capability. 

 

Current assets has the same meaning as in the Australian Accounting Standards. 
 

Current liabilities has the same meaning as in the Australian Accounting Standards. 
 

Non-current assets means all assets other than current assets. 
 

Non-current liabilities means all liabilities other than current liabilities. 
 

Non-recurrent grant means a grant obtained on the condition that it be expended in a specified manner and is not expected to be received again during the period covered by 
Council’s strategic resource plan. 
 

Own-source revenue means adjusted underlying revenue other than revenue that is not under the control of Council (including government grants). 
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Population means the resident population estimated by Council. 
 

Rate revenue means revenue from general rates, municipal charges, service rates and service charges. 
 

Recurrent grant means a grant other than a non-recurrent grant. 
 

Residential rates means revenue from general rates, municipal charges, service rates and service charges levied on residential properties. 
 

Restricted cash means cash and cash equivalents, within the meaning of the Australian Accounting Standards, that are not available for use other than for a purpose for 
which it is restricted, and includes cash to be used to fund capital works expenditure from the previous financial year. 
 

Unrestricted cash means all cash and cash equivalents other than restricted cash. 

 
Other information 

 

For the year ended 30 June 2019. 
 

 

Basis of preparation 
 

Council is required to prepare and include a performance statement within its annual report. The performance statement includes the results of the prescribed 
sustainable capacity, service performance and financial performance indicators and measures together with a description of the municipal district and an explanation 
of material variations in the results. This statement has been prepared to meet the requirements of the Local Government Act 1989 and Local Government (Planning 
and Reporting) Regulations 2014. 

 

Where applicable, the results in the performance statement have been prepared on an accounting basis consistent with those reported in the financial statements. 
The other results are based on information drawn from Council information systems or from third parties (for example, Australian Bureau of Statistics). 

 

The performance statement presents the actual results for the current year and for the prescribed financial performance indicators and measures, the results forecast 
by Council’s strategic resource plan. The Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 require explanation of any material variations in the results 
contained in the performance statement. Council has adopted materiality thresholds relevant to each indicator and measure. Explanations have not been provided for 
variations below the materiality thresholds unless the variance is considered to be material because of its nature. 

 

The forecast figures included in the performance statement are those adopted by Council in its Strategic Resource Plan 2019-2024, which forms part of the Council Plan 
2017-21. The strategic resource plan includes estimates based on key assumptions about the future that were relevant at the time of adoption and aimed at achieving 
long-term sustainability. Detailed information on the actual financial results is contained in the general purpose financial statements. The strategic resource plan can be 
obtained on Council’s website or by contacting Council. 
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Certification of performance statement 
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Independent auditor’s report for performance statement 
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Governance and management 
Moreland City Council derives its power, role, purpose and functions from the Victorian constitution and 
the Local Government Act 1989. 

Council meetings 

Decisions on issues affecting the community are made at Council meetings, where community 
members can observe the decision-making process. 
 

Council began live-streaming Council meetings in 2015 to allow people to watch and listen to the meeting 
proceedings in real time online. This option offers greater access to Council decision-making and debate 
and encourages openness and transparency. The number of people watching the meetings online (both 
live and the recordings) continues to steadily increase. 
 

In June 2018, Council revoked the delegation and dissolved its Urban Planning Committee. Council decided 
that, considering the significance of planning and development in Moreland, planning and related matters 
would be considered at Council meetings specifically scheduled to consider planning matters, rather than 
by a special committee. Since that time, Council has one meeting each month that is designated as a 
Council meeting for planning and related matters. This is called a Planning and Related Matters meeting.  
 

Council met 31 times during the reporting period. A Councillor may seek approval from Council to take 
leave of absence during the year. A meeting not attended during a Councillor’s leave of absence is 
subtracted from the possible number of meetings a Councillor could have attended. If a Councillor has 
submitted an apology or been absent at a meeting, it is deducted from the number of meetings attended 
only. 
 
 

Councillor attendance at 31 Council meetings in 2018-19 
 

Cr Natalie Abboud (approved leave of absence – 1 meeting) 

 

 

30/30 

Cr Sue Bolton  29/31 

Cr Annalivia Carli Hannan (approved leave of absence – 8 
meetings) 

 

22/23 

Cr Helen Davidson (approved leave of absence – 3 meetings) 

 

26/28 

Cr Jess Dorney (approved leave of absence – 2 meetings) 25/29 

Cr Ali Irfanli (approved leave of absence – 2 meetings) 25/29 

Cr John Kavanagh (approved leave of absence – 2 meetings) 27/29 

Cr Dale Martin (approved leave of absence – 1 meeting) 30/30 

Cr Mark Riley (approved leave of absence – 5 meetings) 26/26 

Cr Lambros Tapinos (approved leave of absence – 3 meetings) 27/28 

Cr Oscar Yildiz JP (approved leave of absence – 3 meetings) 23/28 
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Major committees 

Audit and Risk Management Committee 
 

The Audit and Risk Management Committee acts as an advisory committee to Council and is consistent with 
the requirements of the Local Government Act 1989 and good corporate governance generally. 
 

The purpose of the committee is to provide a forum for communication between Council and senior 

management, finance, risk and compliance managers, internal auditors and external auditors. The 

committee also assists us in our oversight responsibilities by monitoring, reviewing and advising on: 

• External reporting (including financial reporting) 

• External and internal auditing 

• Internal control and risk oversight and management 

• Compliance with relevant laws and regulations 

• Fraud (including corruption) 

• Related-party transactions 

• Performance reporting 

The committee operates under a charter that was reviewed during the year and endorsed by Council on 13 

February. 

The committee consists of seven members: an independent chair, John Watson; three independent 

members, Craig Burke, Joelle Tabone and Oliver Webb; and three Councillors. Oliver’s term expired 

during the year resulting in a vacancy on the committee that will be filled in July 2019. 

Councillors John Kavanagh, Natalie Abboud and Annalivia Carli Hannan were Councillor members for the 

September 2018 meeting. At the November 2018 Council meeting, Councillors Kavanagh, Mark Riley and 

Ali Irfanli were appointed as Councillor members for the 2018-19 mayoral year. 

The committee met four times during the 12-month period.  

Special committees 

There were no special committees established by Council operating in 2018-19. 
 

Councillor expenses and allowances 
 

Expenses 
Councillors are provided with resources and support to undertake their duties, so that they can serve, 
engage and act in the community's best interests. 
 

Council may make available or pay for resources or reimburse claims for out-of-pocket expenses. 
 

The Victorian Government sets minimum levels of civic and resource support for Councillors in a Policy 
Statement on Local Government Mayoral and Councillor Allowances and Resources. Our Councillor 
Support and Reimbursement Policy also governs the level of expense and resources support provided. 
During 2018-19 the policies relating to Councillor support and expenses were reviewed and consolidated 
into a single, updated Councillor Support, Expenses and Resources Policy. 
 

Councillor expenses are published quarterly on our website. 
 
Councillor expenses for the 2018-19 year were: 
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Travel Child 

/Family 
Care 

Conferences
/Training 

Mileage Mobile & 
Data 

Events Copying 
/Stationery 

Totals 

Cr Abboud  
$1,736.14  

 -   $6,999.00   -     $1,300.88   -   $183.78   $10,219.80  

Cr Bolton  $56.00   -   -   -   $2,333.14   -   -   $2,389.14  

Cr Carli 
Hannan 

 $84.72   -   -   -   $1,300.88   -   -   $1,385.60  

Cr Davidson  -   -   -   -   $1,337.18   -   -   $1,337.18  

Cr Dorney  $1687.72   -   $12,105.80   -   $1,385.48   -   -   $15,179.00  

Cr Irfanli  $1157.53   -   $1,239.00   -   $1,300.88   -   -   $3,697.41  

Cr 
Kavanagh 

 $374.83   -   -   -   $1,300.88   -   $27.30   $1,703.01  

Cr Martin  -   -   -   -   $1,300.88   -   -   $1,300.88  

Cr Riley  
$1,849.39  

 -   $1,428.90   -   $1,300.88   $660.00   $27.30   $5,266.47  

Cr Tapinos  $411.72   -   -   -   $1,300.88   $195.00   -   $1,907.60  

Cr Yildiz  $924.86   -  $1,099.00 -  $1,300.88   $195.00   $480.00   $3,999.74  

 
 
Allowances 
 

The Mayor and Councillors are entitled to receive an allowance while performing their duty as an 
elected official.  
 
The Local Government Act 1989 regulates the allowance payable to mayors and councillors in Victoria. 
Council is required to review the allowance levels by 30 June in the year following a general election and 
the allowance level determined will remain in effect for the full term of the Council, unless a further 
review is conducted. Following the election in 2016, Council reviewed the Mayor and Councillor 
allowances and set them at the top of the range for a Category 3 council, in light of the complexity of the 
issues to be determined by Council and the significant expectations on Councillors.  
 
Allowances are subject to annual automatic adjustments that are announced in the Victoria Government 
Gazette by the Minister for Local Government. The last adjustment made by the Minister came into 
effect on 1 December 2018. 

 
The allowances paid to our Mayor and Councillors are:  

 Allowance Superannuation 
Guarantee (9.5%) 

Total 

Mayor $98,465 $9,354.18 $107,819.18 

Councillors $30,827 $2,928.57 $33,755.57 

 
 
Councillor Code of Conduct 
The Councillor Code of Conduct is available on our website and was reviewed and adopted on 12 June. 
The code sets out how Councillors interact and work with the community, Councillor colleagues and 
Council staff. 
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Governance and management checklist 

Results of Council’s assessment against the prescribed governance and management checklist: 

Governance and management items Assessment Outcome 

1. Community engagement policy (policy 
outlining Council's commitment to engaging 
with the community on matters of public 
interest)  

Current policy in operation YES: 12/12/2018 

2. Community engagement guidelines 
(guidelines to assist staff to determine when 
and how to engage with the community)  

Current guidelines in 
operation 

YES:  12/12/2018 

3. Strategic resource plan (plan under section 
126 of the Act outlining the financial and 
non-financial resources required for at least 
the next four financial years)  

Plan adopted in accordance 
with section 126 of the Act 

YES:  24/06/2019 

4. Annual budget (plan under section 130 of the 
Act setting out the services to be provided 
and initiatives to be undertaken over the next 
12 months and the funding and other 
resources required)  

Budget adopted in accordance 
with section 130 of the Act 

YES: 24/06/2019 

5. Asset management plans (plans that set out 
the asset maintenance and renewal needs for 
key infrastructure asset classes for at least 
the next 10 years)  

Current plans in operation NO:  

Road Asset 
Management Plan – 
covering 50% of the 

value of Council non- 
land assets – has been 

developed.  

 

Asset management 
plans for remaining key 

asset classes are in 
development. 

6. Rating strategy (strategy setting out the 
rating structure of Council to levy rates and 
charges) 

Current strategy in operation YES: 24/06/2019 

7. Risk policy (policy outlining Council's 
commitment and approach to minimising the 
risks to Council's operations) 

Current policy in operation YES: 27/03/2019 

8. Fraud policy (policy outlining Council's 
commitment and approach to minimising the 
risk of fraud)  

Current policy in operation YES: 26/03/2019 

9. Municipal emergency management plan 
(plan under section 20 of the Emergency 

Prepared and maintained in 
accordance with section 20 of 

YES: 08/01/2019  
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Governance and management items Assessment Outcome 

Management Act 1986 for emergency 
prevention, response and recovery)  

the Emergency Management 
Act 1986 

10. Procurement policy (policy under section 
186A of the Local Government Act 1989 
outlining the matters, practices and 
procedures that will apply to all purchases of 
goods, services and works)  

Prepared and approved in 
accordance with section 186A 
of the Local Government Act  

Yes: 12/06/2019 

(review date: 12 June 
2020)  

11. Business continuity plan (plan setting out the 
actions that will be taken to ensure that key 
services continue to operate in the event of a 
disaster)  

Current plan in operation, 
with a new plan being 
developed 

YES: 24/07/2015 

Reviewed on 31 March 
2019 

12. Disaster recovery plan (plan setting out the 
actions that will be undertaken to recover 
and restore business capability in the event 
of a disaster) 

Current plan in operation YES: 25/10/2017 

Reviewed in April 2019 
(version 12.8) 

13. Risk management framework (framework 
outlining Council's approach to managing 
risks to the Council's operations) 

Current framework in 
operation 

YES: 26/3/2019 

Reviewed in February 
2019. 

14. Audit Committee (advisory committee of 
Council under section 139 of the Act whose 
role is to oversee the integrity of Council's 
financial reporting, processes to manage risks 
to the Council's operations and for 
compliance with applicable legal, ethical, and 
regulatory requirements)  

Committee established in 
accordance with section 139 
of the Act 

YES: 13/02/2019 

 

15. Internal audit (independent accounting 
professionals engaged by the Council to 
provide analyses and recommendations 
aimed at improving Council's governance, risk 
and management controls)  

Internal auditor engaged YES: Contracted to 

1/09/2020   

16. Performance reporting framework (a set of 
indicators measuring financial and non-
financial performance, including the 
performance indicators referred to in section 
131 of the Act)  

Current framework in 
operation 

YES: 24/07/2017 

17. Council plan reporting (report reviewing the 
performance of the Council against the 
Council Plan 2017-21, including the results in 
relation to the strategic indicators, for the 
first six months of the financial year)  

Current report YES: Annual Council 
Action Plan 

Q4 - prior year: 
8/08/2018 

Q1: 14/11/2018 
 

Q2:13/03/2019 
 

Q3: 08/05/2019 
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Governance and management items Assessment Outcome 

18. Financial reporting (quarterly statements to 
Council under section 138 of the Act 
comparing budgeted revenue and 
expenditure with actual revenue and 
expenditure) 

Quarterly statements 
presented to Council in 
accordance with section 
138(1) of the Act      

Q1 (2017-18 Financial 

Statements): Presented 

12/09/2018 

Q2 (September 2018): 

Presented 14/11/2018 

Q3 (December 2018): 

Presented 13/02/2019 

Q4 (March 2019): 

Presented 8/05/2019 

19. Risk reporting (six-monthly reports of 
strategic risks to Council's operations, their 
likelihood and consequences of occurring and 
risk minimisation strategies)  

Reports prepared and 
presented 

YES:  

November 2018 and 
March 2019 

20. Performance reporting (six-monthly reports 
of indicators measuring the results against 
financial and non-financial performance, 
including performance indicators referred to 
in section 131 of the Act) 

Reports prepared and 
presented 

YES:  

Full-year results: (Post-
Auditor-General review 
and approvals): August 

2018 

Half-year results and 
quality control review of 
non-financial postponed 
until end of year, as per 
agreement with VAGO: 
22/05/18 

21. Annual report (annual report under sections 
131, 132 and 133 of the Act to the 
community containing a report of operations 
and audited financial performance 
statements) 

Annual report considered at a 
meeting of Council in 
accordance with section 134 
of the Act 

YES: 27/09/2018 

22. Councillor Code of Conduct (Code under 
section 76C of the Act setting out the conduct 
principles and the dispute resolution 
processes to be followed by Councillors)  

Code of conduct reviewed in 
accordance with section 76C 
of the Act 

YES: 12/6/2019 

23. Delegations (a document setting out the 
powers, duties and functions of Council and 
the Chief Executive Officer that have been 
delegated to members of staff)  

Delegations reviewed in 
accordance with section 98(6) 
of the Act 

YES:  
 

20/04/2017 
(Council to CEO) 

 

12/12/2018 
(Council to members of 

staff) 
 
 

23/01/2019 
(CEO to council staff) 
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Governance and management items Assessment Outcome 

24. Meeting procedures (a local law governing 
the conduct of meetings of Council and 
special committees)  

Meeting procedures local law 
made in accordance with 
section 91(1) of the Act 

YES: 13/06/2018 
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Statutory information 
 

Victorian and Federal Government investigations 
 

Council was not the subject of any Victorian or Federal Government investigations. 
 

Documents available for public inspection 
 

Council is committed to open and transparent governance in accordance with the Local Government Act 

1989 (the Act) and the Local Government (General) Regulations 2015. The following documents are 

available for public inspection at the Moreland Civic Centre, 90 Bell Street, Coburg: 
 

1.   Details of overseas or interstate travel (other than interstate travel by land for fewer than 
three days) undertaken in an official capacity by any Councillor or member of Council staff in 
the previous 12 months, including: 

a.    name of Councillor or member of Council staff 
b.   dates on which the travel began and ended 
c. destination of the travel 
d.   purpose of the travel, and 
e.   total cost to the Council of the travel, including accommodation costs. 

 
2.   Agendas and minutes of ordinary and special meetings held in the previous 12 months, 

which are kept under Section 93 of the Act, other than those agendas and minutes relating 
to a part of a meeting which was closed to members of the public under Section 89 of the 
Act and are confidential information within the meaning of section 77(2) of the Act. These 
agendas and minutes are also available on Council’s website. 

3.   Minutes of meetings of special committees established under Section 86 of the Act and held 
in the previous 12 months, other than those minutes relating to a part of a meeting which 
was closed to members of the public under Section 89 of the Act and are confidential 
information within the meaning of Section 77(2) of the Act. 

▪ Note there were no committees operating in 2018-19 that had been 
established under Section 86 of the Act 

4.   Register of delegations kept under Sections 87(1) and 98(4) of the Act, including the date on 
which the last review took place under Sections 86(6) and 98(6), respectively, of the Act. 

5.   Details of all leases involving land which were entered into by the Council as lessor, including 
the lessee and the terms and the value of the lease. 

6.   Register maintained under Section 224(1A) of the Act of authorised officers appointed under 
that Section. 

7.   Donations and grants made by the Council in the previous 12 months, including the names 
of persons who or bodies that have received a donation or grant and the amount of each 
donation or grant. 

 
Inspection of these documents can be arranged by contacting the Unit Manager Governance and Civic 
Protocols on 9240 1111. 
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Best Value 

In accordance with section 208G of the Local Government Act, at least once every year a Council must 

report to its community on what it has done to ensure that it has given effect to the best value principles. 

These require council services to: 

a. Meet high quality and cost standards. 

b. Be responsive to community needs. 

c. Ensure high levels of accessibility. 

d. Achieve continuous improvement in its operation. 

e. Consult with the community on service levels. 

During 2018-19, Council continued to drive performance improvement and ensure our delivery on the best 

value principles for the community.  

1. Consultation and engagement framework 

Driven by strong demand from the Moreland community for better communication and more involvement 

with Council decision-making, Council is working on a fundamental rethink of community engagement and 

public participation to improve how Council interacts with the community. With the valuable assistance of 

a community reference group and the benefit of research and benchmarking, Council has reframed the 

way it engages with community through a new Community Engagement and Public Participation in 

Moreland Policy, adopted in December.  

The policy commits Council to how it will realise the potential that community input brings to the city 

through purposeful, respectful, inclusive, responsive and transparent working relationships. Community 

members are partners in shaping the future of Moreland and ‘engagement’ is the term Council uses for the 

activities in which Council works together with the community. 

Implementation began with the formation of a small staff team focused on engagement, who introduced a 

draft framework and staff capacity-building, which is currently being tested on four pilot projects. The full 

implementation will take place across the next two financial years. 

2. Annual service-planning and budgeting 

The Annual Planning and Budgeting working group has continued this year and has reviewed and 

streamlined the overall Council budgeting process to support the implementation of the Council plan and 

service delivery initiatives. In February, Council introduced an online budget simulator to engage with the 

community and ensure the budget would meet community expectations.  

 

Council also held the first business initiation expo in June with positive results, aligning the organisation’s 

internal services with Council’s external-facing services. The council planning and budgeting process was 

delivered with support from a cross-organisational team.  

 

A new service-planning approach was delivered this year to combine planning, delivery and monitoring of 

Council’s service performance on a monthly basis, with stronger reporting to the executive leadership 

team.  

 

Council’s performance for the 2018-19 financial year was 95 per cent completion of its service plan actions, 

up from 91 per cent for the 2017-18 financial year, and above the organisation KPI of 90 per cent.  

 

3. Service reviews 

During 2018-19, six Council services reviewed their way of working to ensure they provided best value in 

the performance of their operations.  
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Environmental Health 

Through an internal audit, opportunities were identified to make improvements to systems and processes 

within the Environmental Health Unit.  A review of processes was completed and a number of 

improvements were implemented to streamline workflows, build a collaborative approach to regulation 

enforcement and create detailed procedures to guide staff. In conjunction with this review, a plan was 

developed to increase digitisation, including a move to electronic correspondence, eliminating the use of 

paper files and the creation of online application lodgement.  

Communications  

Early in 2019, a review of the communications team was undertaken which resulted in a revised structure 
to effectively facilitate a contemporary, integrated and engaging approach to Council’s 
communications. This work followed on from Council’s establishment of the Engagement and Partnerships 
Directorate in late 2018 to increase Council’s connectivity with the community it serves in proactive and 
meaningful ways. The new Communications Unit aligns the functions and outputs of the communications 
team to what the community satisfaction research results tells us that the Moreland community needs.  
 
Some of the key communications requirements of Council going forward are: 
• Improved and more visible information about Council’s activities and services.  

• Improved ways for Council to engage with the diverse community of Moreland. 

• Improved channels, including website and social media, for the community to easily access and engage 
with Council information. 

 

Construction management and enforcement  

During 2018-19, the construction management team reviewed how they could minimise the impact of 

development on the community during the building process, how community assets are protected and to 

ensure that construction within Moreland across all levels is well-managed and undertaken within the 

applicable laws and regulations. Results included an increased focus on improving compliance at all scales 

of building, templates for use by builders and early discussions between builders and staff.  

Noise complaint handling  

Council investigated the management of noise complaints, which were growing due to the level of building 

and development and higher density living, because Council has a requirement under the Public Health and 

Wellbeing Act to investigate noise complaints. This work resulted in improved evidence-gathering support 

for the community, including noise diaries and clearer information on how noise complaints work on 

Council’s website. The allocation of noise-related complaints to the relevant Council team was also 

improved.  

Youth services 

Moreland Youth Services is currently finalising a new strategic plan titled: Full Potential – A Strategy for 

Moreland’s Young People (Draft), which was formally released for community review at the 12 June Council 

meeting. The final draft will be returned for Council consideration at the September meeting.  

A key component with the strategy project plan was to incorporate a service review to adjust resources to 

best align with the new strategic direction and maximise outcomes for the community. The process has 

been facilitated in partnership with an external consultancy firm and internal project working team. To 

date, using an open and incremental approach, multiple workshops and one-on-one interviews have been 

concluded with a preferred operating model identified and shared with youth services staff. The next stage 

of the process is to adjust existing position descriptions and continue to engage with staff and plan for 

transitions into the proposed operating model.  
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Governance 

Council’s governance unit provides support and advice across the organisation to ensure decision-making 

processes are transparent and accountable, including supporting Council meetings and undertaking 

statutory roles required by legislation such as Freedom of Information and privacy and data protection. The 

unit provides support to the Mayor and Councillors and delivers civic events as well as guiding Council 

officers in accessing legal services. To support the development of a more proactive support and advisory 

service, the processes and structure of the unit were reviewed to determine how best to meet the needs of 

the Mayor and Councillors, the community and staff. As a result of the review, some functions were 

reallocated within the unit and a more robust structure was implemented to provide greater capacity to 

identify opportunities to improve, lead development of good governance practice across the organisation 

and provide strategic governance advice. This structure has the benefit of career progression opportunities 

for staff and succession planning for the unit overall. The unit was also renamed Governance and Civic 

Protocols.  

 

4. Continuous improvement program 

In 2018-19, Council continued to streamline and improve processes, leading to better outcomes for 

customers and more efficient ways of working.  

A large focus has been on continuing to shift manual, paper-based processes to online and digital 

processes. This reduces time spent sorting paperwork and makes it easier for customers to access services. 

These initiatives included work on our No Spray Register, valuation enquiries, Bpay for open space 

payments and the mature trees process. The Environmental Health Unit has also recently implemented 

online lodgement, registration and payment services, as well as improving internal systems and workflows. 

The result is a much smoother process for customers. 

A major change to how Council worked in 2018 was the implementation of the new finance system, NAV. 

This streamlined a range of financial, procurement and billing processes, and saved a huge $300,000 per 

year in maintenance and service costs. Council has also increased access to use of BPAY to increase 

payment options for the community.  

The libraries teams have been busy engaging with continuous improvement and looking for different ways 

to improve customer experience at the library. These include reducing the number of touchpoints when 

reserving items, improving the availability and ease of borrowing DVDs, making libraries more “pram-

friendly” and improving online sign-ups to make joining the library and accessing online services easier. 

Council undertook several trials relating to household waste in Moreland, as part of efforts to create a 

more sustainable city. The first was a trial of accepting food scraps through green waste bins, undertaken in 

Pascoe Vale and Pascoe Vale South. These trials were very successful and will help reduce the amount of 

waste going to landfill in the future. Council also trialled different ways of collecting waste at large 

apartment buildings, testing different size bins and collection methods. Experimental trials such as these 

help work out better ways of collecting waste, keeping streets cleaner and making the morning bin run 

more efficient.  

This year Council participated in the Better Approvals Project, which aims to make it easier for small 
business to obtain all permits and supports they need to get started. The project is now in the testing phase 
with real examples being trialled through a new process.  
 
Finally the amenity and compliance teams streamlined a number of processes for parking and animal 

management officers, resulting in a $200,000-a-year saving. Internal Pathway processes were also 
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improved, helping track and coordinate planning compliance work, helping to ensure construction across 

Moreland is safe and compliant.
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Freedom of Information 

 

The Freedom of Information Act 1982 (FOI Act) gives the community a legal right to access certain Council 
documents. 
 

The Act has four basic principles: 
 

1.   The public has a legal right of access to information. 

2.   Local governments are required to publish information concerning the documents they hold. 
3.   People may request that inaccurate, incomplete, out-of-date or misleading information in 

their personal records be amended. 
4.   People may appeal against a decision not to give access to the information or not to amend 

a personal record. 
 

Council responds to requests directly related to its operations. There were 45 FOI requests received in 
2018–19 (compared with 60 FOI requests in 2017-18). Sometimes only parts of documents were released. 
Where requests for documents were partially granted, the most common exemption reason was Section 
33(1), which relates to the unreasonable disclosure of information relating to the personal affairs of any 
person. 
 

In accordance with the Act, Council has submitted its report on the operation of the Act for inclusion in 
the annual report of the Freedom of Information Commissioner to Parliament. 
 

Accessing Freedom of Information 
 

Requests to access Freedom of Information must be in writing and accompanied by an application fee of 
$28.90 (2018-19) or $29.60 (2019-20). 
 

When a request for documents is received, a decision about the release of documents must be made within 
30 days, unless an extension of time is agreed by the applicant. Where a decision is made to refuse or defer 
access, the applicant is notified in writing of the reasons for the refusal and the procedures available to 
appeal the decision. 
 

More information about Freedom of Information can be found at foi.vic.gov.au and on Council’s 
website. 
 
The Office of the Victorian Information Commissioner reviewed two of Council’s decisions relating to 
the release of documents in 2018-19. In one case, Council reassessed the request and response and 
released some additional documents. The commissioner directed Council to release a copy of one 
further document. The other matter is yet to be finalised.  
 

 
Local laws 
 

Council has two Local Laws: 
 
The purpose of the General Local Law 2018 is to: 

• promote a physical and social environment that is accessible and free from hazards to health, in 
which the residents of and visitors to the municipality can enjoy a quality of life that meets the 
general expectations of the community; 

• protect the use of public places and control activities in, on or near them; 

• provide for safety in public places; 

• control, protect and conserve the environment and maintain the amenity of the municipality; 

• provide for, control and manage the use of premises and vehicles in particular circumstances; 

• regulate the number and manner of the keeping of animals; 

• control, prevent and abate nuisances; and 

• provide for the peace, order and good government of the municipality.  
 
The objectives of the Meeting Procedure Local Law 2018 are to: 

http://www.foi.vic.gov.au/
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• provide the procedures governing the conduct of Council meetings; 

• provide for the election of the mayor and a deputy mayor; 

• set the rules of behaviour for those participating in, or present at, Council meetings; 

• provide for the appointment of Councillor office holders and assignments as members of 
committees established by Council or as Council representatives to external committees and 
organisations; and 

• provide for the use of Council’s Common Seal. 
 
Whistleblower legislation – protected disclosures 
 

The purpose of the Protected Disclosure Act 2012 is to encourage and facilitate disclosures of improper 
conduct by Council officers or Councillors. The Act provides protection to whistleblowers who make 
disclosures in accordance with the Act and establishes a system for the matters to be investigated and 
rectifying action to be taken. As required by Section 58 of the Act, Council has developed disclosure 
procedures, which can be found on Council’s website. 

 
During the reporting period, there was one disclosure notified to the Independent Broad-based Anti-
corruption Commission (IBAC). The disclosure did not meet the threshold to be investigated as a protected 
disclosure and was referred back to Council for investigation and resolution.  
 
All correspondence, phone calls or emails from internal or external whistleblowers should be addressed to 
Council’s Protected Disclosure Coordinator by email on jwatson@moreland.vic.gov.au or phone 9240 2387.  

 
Information privacy policy 

 
Council believes that the responsible handling of personal information is a key aspect of good democratic 
governance and is committed to protecting every individual’s right to privacy. Accordingly, Council is 
committed to full compliance with its obligations under the Privacy and Data Protection Act 2014 and the 
Health Records Act 2001. Council complies with the information privacy principles and health privacy 
principles contained in the Acts. Council’s privacy policy was reviewed and updated in 2018-19 and it 
applies to all personal information collected or held by Council. 
 
Council’s Information Privacy Policy and Health Records Policy applies to all Council employees, 
Councillors and contractors to Council. Training and awareness sessions, local procedures and a policy 
manual ensures personal information is protected and strong security frameworks around its use and 
disclosure are provided. 
 

Any person wishing to access their personal information should contact the area of Council that collected it. 
If any person believes their personal information is inaccurate, incomplete or out of date, they may request 
Council to correct the information. If someone feels aggrieved by the handling of their personal 
information, they may make a complaint to Council’s Privacy Officer. The complaint is investigated and a 
response is provided. Alternatively, any person may make a complaint to the Office of the Victorian 
Information Commissioner. 
 

During the reporting period, one complaint was referred to us by the commissioner and subsequently 
resolved.  
 
Contracts 

During the year Council did not enter into any contracts valued at $150,000 or more for services or 

$200,000 or more for works of a kind specified in section 186(5)(a) and (c) of the Act. Council also did not 

enter into any other contracts valued at $150,000 or more for goods or services or $200,000 or more for 

works without engaging in a competitive process.  

During the year, Council received a state-wide exemption (which was granted to all councils in Victoria), 

under Section 186 of the Local Government Act 1989, to extend recycling collection contracts to June 

mailto:jwatson@moreland.vic.gov.au
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2021, allowing Council to continue its existing contract. The exemption was granted by the Minister for 

Local Government, The Honourable Adem Somyurek MP. The aim of this exemption was to assist in easing 

the administrative burden on councils and to support Victoria’s recycling sector.  

Disability access and inclusion plan 
 
In accordance with section 38 of the Disability Act 2006, Council has prepared the Disability Access and 

Inclusion Plan 2016-20 and implemented the following initiatives in 2018-19: 

• Established the Moreland Disability Service Provider Network with more than 25 local disability 

service providers. Council hosts and coordinates regular network meetings aimed at creating 

networks, sharing information and building organisational capacity around improving disability 

access and inclusion.   

 

• Supported Moreland Disability Working Group and convened and organised bi-monthly meetings. 

 

• Created a new Moreland Award category – Access and Inclusion – to recognise an outstanding 

contribution by an individual or group in relation to access and inclusion for people with disability 

in Moreland.  

 

• Provided support to relevant state and national campaigns and consultation affecting people with 

disability, including the Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation of People 

with Disability, level crossing removal projects, and the VicRoads Accessible Parking Permit 

Scheme.  

 

• Through the MetroAccess Program, delivered the disability awareness workshop Inclusion in Action 

for neighbourhood house staff. People with disability were employed to co-facilitate this 

workshop. 

 

• Through partnership with building maintenance and sport and recreation teams, constructed an 

accessible pathway to the Hadfield Tennis Club.  

 

• Supported the employment of a blind person on a short-term, part-time basis in the role of event 

support officer. This person has now gained full-time, ongoing employment with a large disability 

organisation.   

 

• Improved and expanded community access to hearing assistance devices (hearing loops). These are 

now available throughout Moreland libraries and two neighbourhood houses. Library and 

neighbourhood house staff have received hearing loop system training. 

 

• Delivered disability awareness information/training at four library staff forums. 

 

• International Day for People with Disability - organised inclusive art event in collaboration with 

Newlands and East Coburg Community Houses (Open Studio) and the Brotherhood of St Lawrence. 

Artwork from local people with disabilities was exhibited within the Brotherhood’s office in Coburg 

and inclusive art workshops were held in the foyer. 

 

• Responded to more than 180 internal and external community consultations, enquiries and 

complaints. 

 
Domestic animal management 
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In accordance with the Domestic Animals Act 1994, Council prepares a domestic animal management plan 

every four years, in consultation with the Victorian Department of Economic Development, Jobs, Transport 

and Resources.  

The Domestic Animal Management Plan 2017-21 was endorsed by Council on 6 December 2017 and 

submitted to the Department on 21 December 2017.  

Key objectives within the plan include encouraging responsible pet ownership, educating the community 

on topics related to animal management, increasing registration of domestic cats and dogs, ensuring 

animal management officers have appropriate training, identifying dangerous, menacing and restricted 

breed dogs in the municipality to ensure they are kept in accordance with the Act and relevant regulations, 

minimising the risk of dog attacks and reducing the nuisance caused by cats and dogs. 

Implementation of the plan has included reviewing the animal registration database, subsidising desexing 

programs, promoting responsible pet ownership and developing a domestic animal business audit. 

 
Food Act ministerial directions 
 
In accordance with section 7E of the Food Act 1984, Council is required to publish a summary of any 
ministerial directions received during the financial year in its annual report. Council did not receive any 
ministerial directions during the financial year. 
 
Road Management Act ministerial directions 
 
In accordance with section 22 of the Road Management Act 2004, Council must publish a copy or summary 
of any ministerial direction in its annual report. Council did not receive any ministerial directions during 
2018-19. 
 

Infrastructure and development contributions 
 
Council introduced a Development Contributions Plan in 2015. In accordance with section 46GM and 46QD 
of the Planning and Environment Act 1987, a Council that is a collecting agency must prepare and give a 
report to the Minister for Planning on development contributions, including levies and works in kind.  
 
For the 2018 – 19 year the following information about development contributions is disclosed (see over 
page). 
 



│ 2018 – 19 Annual Report, Moreland City Council    

 
130 

 

 



│ 2018 – 19 Annual Report, Moreland City Council    

 
131 

 

 



│ 2018 – 19 Annual Report, Moreland City Council    

 
132 

 

 



│ 2018 – 19 Annual Report, Moreland City Council    

 
133 

 

 



│ 2018 – 19 Annual Report, Moreland City Council    

 
134 

 

 



│ 2018 – 19 Annual Report, Moreland City Council    

 
135 

 

 

 



│ 2018 – 19 Annual Report, Moreland City Council    

 
136 

 

Financial Report 

A plain English guide to the Financial Report 

Introduction 
 

The Financial Report is a key report presented by Moreland City Council. It shows how Council performed 
financially during the financial year and the overall position at the end of the financial year (30 June 2019). 
 

Council’s report complies with Australian Accounting Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of 
the Australian Accounting Standards Board, the Local Government Act 1989, and the Local Government 
(Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014. Particular terms required by the standards may not be familiar 
to some readers. Further, Council is a not-for-profit organisation and some of the generally recognised 
terms used in private-sector company reports are not appropriate to its reports. 
 

Council is committed to accountability. It is in this context that a plain English guide has been 
developed to assist readers to understand and analyse the Financial Report. 
 
 

What is contained in the annual Financial Report? 
 

The report has two main sections: the report and the notes. There are five statements and eight notes. 
These are prepared by Council staff, audited by the Victorian Auditor-General, examined by Council’s Audit 
Committee and then approved and adopted by Council. 

 
The five statements are included in the first few pages of the report. They are the comprehensive 
income statement, balance sheet, statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows and 
statement of capital works. 

 
The notes detail Council’s accounting policies and the make-up of values contained in the statements. 

 

Comprehensive income statement 
 

The comprehensive income statement shows: 
 

• the sources of Council’s revenue under various income headings, and 

• the expenses incurred in running Council during the year. 
 

The expenses relate only to the operations and do not include the cost associated with the purchase of 
or the building of assets. While asset-purchase costs are not included in the expenses, there is an item 
for depreciation. This amount is the value of the assets used up during the year. 
 

The key figure to look at is the surplus or deficit of Council for the year. A surplus means that the revenue 
was greater than the expenses and a deficit means that the expenses were greater than the revenue. 
 

Balance sheet 
 

The balance sheet is a snapshot of the financial position as at 30 June. It shows what Council owns as 
assets and what it owes as liabilities. Towards the bottom of the balance sheet is a line showing net 
assets. This is the net worth of Council, which has been built up over many years. 
 

The assets and liabilities are separated into current and non-current. Current means those assets or 
liabilities which will fall due in the next 12 months. 
 

The components of the balance sheet are described here. 
 

 
Current and non-current assets 

• Cash and other financial assets include cash and investments, that is, cash held in the bank 
and in petty cash and the market value of Council’s investments. 

• Receivables are monies owed to Council by ratepayers and others. 

• Non-current financial assets represent the value of shares held by Council.  
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• Investment property represents the value of property owned by Council as investment. 

• Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment is the largest component of Council’s worth 
and represents the value of all the land, buildings, roads, vehicles, equipment and so on, 
which has been built up over many years. 

 

Current and non-current liabilities 
 

• Payables are those to who Council owes money as at 30 June. 

• Provisions include accrued long service and annual leave owed to employees. 

• Trust funds represent monies held in trust by Council. 

• Loans represent Council’s outstanding borrowings. 
 

Net assets 
 

This term is used to describe the difference between the value of total assets and the value of total 
liabilities. It represents the net worth of Council as at 30 June. 
 

Total equity 
 

This always equals net assets. It is made up of the following components: 
 

• asset revaluation reserve is the difference between the previously recorded value of assets 
and their current valuations, 

• other reserves are allocations of the accumulated surplus to specific activities, and 

• accumulated surplus is the value of all surpluses and deficits accumulated over time. 
 

Statement of changes in equity 
 

During the year, the value of total ratepayer’s equity as set out in the balance sheet changes. This 
statement shows the values of such changes and how these changes arose. The main reasons for a change 
in equity stem from: 

• a surplus or deficit from operations for the year, 

• the use of monies from Council’s reserves, and 
• revaluation of the assets. This takes place on a regular basis and also occurs when existing 

assets are taken up in the books for the first time. 
 

Statement of cash flows 
 

The cash flow statement summarises Council’s cash payments and cash receipts for the year. This 
statement is presented according to a very specific accounting standard and needs some care in analysis. 
The values may differ from those shown in the income statement as it is prepared on a cash accounting 
basis and the income statement is prepared on an accrual basis. 
 

Cash in this statement refers to bank deposits and other forms of highly liquid investments that can 
readily be converted to cash, such as cash invested in term deposits or with funds managers. 
 

Council’s cash arises from, and is used in, three main areas: 
 

• Cash flows from operating activities: 
o Receipts – all cash received into Council’s bank account from ratepayers and others 

who owed money to Council. Receipts also include the interest earnings from 
Council’s cash investments. It does not include the costs associated with the sale of 
assets. 

o Payments – all cash paid by Council from its bank account to staff, creditors and other 
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persons. It does not include the costs associated with the creation of assets. 

• Cash flows from investing activities 
o This section shows the cash invested in the creation or purchase of property, 

infrastructure, plant and equipment assets and the cash received from the sale of 
these assets. 

• Cash flows from financing activities 
o This is where the receipt and repayment of borrowed funds are recorded. 

 

The bottom line of the cash flow statement states the cash held at the end of the financial year. This shows 
Council’s capacity to meet cash debts and other liabilities. 
 

Statement of capital works 
 

The statement of capital works details all amounts expended by Council on capital works. The statement 
classifies the expenditure in line with Council’s asset classes. 
 

It categorises capital works expenditure into renewal of assets, upgrading of assets, expansion of assets or 
creating new assets. Each of these categories has a different impact on Council’s future costs. 
 
 

Notes to the accounts 
 

The notes are a very important and informative section of the report. The accounting standards are not 
prescriptive in a lot of issues. Therefore, to enable the reader to understand the basis on which the values 
shown in the statements are established it is necessary to provide details of Council’s accounting policies. 
These are described throughout the notes as relevant. 
 

Apart from the accounting policies, the notes also give details behind many of the summary figures 
contained in the statements. The note numbers are shown beside the relevant items in the comprehensive 
income statement, balance sheet, statement of cash flows and statement of capital works. 
 

Where Council wishes to disclose other information, which cannot be incorporated into the statements, it is 
shown in the notes. 
 

Other notes include: 
 

• the breakdown of expenses, revenues, reserves and other assets, 

• contingent liabilities, and 

• transactions with persons related to Council. 
 

The notes should be read at the same time as, and together with, the other parts of the Financial 
Statements to get a clear picture of the accounts. 
 

Statements by Principal Accounting Officer and Councillors 
 

The certification of the Principal Accounting Officer is made by the person responsible for the financial 
management of Council that, in her or his opinion, the financial statements have met all the statutory and 
professional reporting requirements. 
 

The certification of Councillors is made by two Councillors on behalf of Council that, in their opinion, the 
Financial Statements present fairly the financial transactions of Council. 

 
Auditor General’s report 
The independent audit report provides the reader with an external and independent opinion on the financial 
statements. It confirms that the financial report has been prepared in accordance with relevant legislation 
and professional standards and that it represents a fair picture of Council’s financial affairs. 
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Council’s main office  
 

90 Bell Street Coburg, Victoria 3058 
 

External auditor 
 

Auditor-General of Victoria 
 

Internal auditor  

Crowe Horwath  

Solicitors  

Various 

Bankers 
 

Commonwealth Bank of Australia 

Westpac Institutional Bank 

Website address  

moreland.vic.gov.au 

  

http://www.moreland.vic.gov.au/
http://www.moreland.vic.gov.au/
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Certification of the Financial Statements 
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Independent auditor’s report for the Financial Report 
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